EDGAROnline

WISDOMTREE INVESTMENTS, INC.

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/03/14 for the Period Ending 12/31/13

Address 380 MADISON AVENUE
21ST FLOOR
NEW YORK, NY 10017
Telephone 212-801-2080
CIK 0000880631
Symbol WETF
SIC Code 6211 - Security Brokers, Dealers, and Flotation Companies
Industry  Investment Services
Sector  Financial
Fiscal Year 12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2014, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
For fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 001-10932
WisdomTree Investments, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)
Delaware 13-3487784
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

245 Park Avenue, 320 Floor

New York, New York 10167
(Address of principal executive officers’ (Zip Code)

212-801-2080
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Codg

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) d¢fie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registere
Common Stock, $0.01 par valu The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) diie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edBdturities Act.
No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®eacl5(d) of the Act. [
No

Yes 0O

Yes



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastiags. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted @auntsio Rule 405 of Regulation5¢8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grbnths
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files)xI Yes [ No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorKS8229.405 of this chapter) is not contail
herein, and will not be contained, to the besthefregistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy ofdrmation statements incorporated by
reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amerent to this Form 10-K.J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @aocelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See definitions of “large acceleratedfitaccelerated filer” and “smaller reporting coampy” in 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fil¢ O Accelerated filel

O Non-accelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reéjporcompany’ O Smaller reporting compar
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act). Yes[ No

At June 30, 2013, the aggregate market value ofapistrant’'s Common Stock held by non-affiliatesriputed by reference to the
closing sale price of such shares on the NASDAQ&lIGelect Market on June 28, 2013) was $1,1665504,

At February 18, 2014, there were 132,699,903 shafréee registrant’s Common Stock outstanding fipshares).
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The information required by Part Ill of this Repdd the extent not set forth herein, is incorpedaterein by reference from the

registrant’s definitive proxy statement relatinghe Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held®i42, which definitive proxy statement shall
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissgiithin 120 days after the end of the fiscal yieawhich this Report relates.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardiimg statements that are based on our managesreiief and assumptions and
information currently available to our manageméithough we believe that the expectations refledtetthese forward-looking statements are
reasonable, these statements relate to futuresweour future financial performance, and invdimewn and unknown risks, uncertainties anc
other factors that may cause our actual results|deof activity, performance or achievements tortaerially different from any future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievementsregged or implied by these forward-looking stateisen

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “shidyl’ “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predictsotential,” “continue” or the negative of thesrms or other comparable terminology. These
statements are only predictions. You should natelandue reliance on forward-looking statementsibse they involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors, which ewspme cases, beyond our control and which coualterially affect results. Factors that may
cause actual results to differ materially from eutrexpectations include, among other things, thist in the section entitled “Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in this Report. If one or more o$é¢hésks or uncertainties occur, or if our undeldyassumptions prove to be incorrect, actual
events or results may vary significantly from thaselied or projected by the forward-looking statts. No forward-looking statement is a
guarantee of future performance. You should resdRBport and the documents that we referencesrRport and have filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibitsisaReport, completely and with the understandivag bur actual future results may be
materially different from any future results exped or implied by these forward-looking statements.

In particular, forward-looking statements in this@®rt include statements about:
e anticipated trends, conditions and investor sentimrethe global markets and exchange traded f(*ETF<");
e anticipated levels of inflows into and outflows aidtour ETFs
« our ability to deliver favorable rates of returnineestors;
» our ability to develop new products and servi
» our ability to maintain current vendors or find neandors to provide services to us at favorablésg
e our ability to successfully expand our business mir-U.S. markets
e competition in our business; a

» the effect of laws and regulations that apply tolmusiness

The forward-looking statements in this Report repra our views as of the date of this Report. Wieigate that subsequent events and
developments may cause our views to change. Howadde we may elect to update these forward-loglstatements at some point in the
future, we have no current intention of doing soept to the extent required by applicable law. &fae, these forward-looking statements do
not represent our views as of any date other thanlate of this Report.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Company

We are the only publicly-traded asset managemenpeaay that focuses exclusively on ETFs. We ardifttelargest ETF sponsor in the
United States with assets under management (“AUM3gpproximately $34.9 billion as of December 3112 Our family of ETFs includes
fundamentally weighted funds that track our owreiek, funds that track third party indexes andratimanaged funds. We distribute our
ETFs through all major channels within the assatagament industry, including brokerage firms, reged investment advisers, institutional
investors, private wealth managers and discourkdnso

We focus on creating ETFs for investors that daffieughtful innovation, smart engineering and rewdiinvesting. Most of our index-
based funds employ a fundamental weighted investmethodology, which weights securities on the $asifactors such as dividends or
earnings, whereas most other ETF industry indegesalcapitalization weighted methodology. In additwe also offer actively managed
ETFs, which are ETFs that are not based on a platimdex but rather are actively managed with plete transparency into the ETF's
portfolio on a daily basis. Our regulatory exemetrelief enables us to use our own indexes foatedf our ETFs and actively manage other
ETFs.

In evaluating the performance of our Equity, Fixedome and Alternatives ETFs against actively madaand index based mutual funds
and ETFs, as of December 31, 2013 85% of the $#8Bién invested in our ETFs and 56% (28 of 50)paf Equity, Fixed Income and
Alternatives ETFs outperformed their comparable htogstar average since inception.

Our AUM has been growing and reaching record legath year from $12.2 billion at the end of 201$18.3 billion at the end of 2012
and $34.9 billion at the end of 2013. Our net wlcalso increased during that time period from $#8ln in 2011 to $4.7 billion in 2012 and
$14.3 billion in 2013. As a result of strong ndtaws and growth in our AUM, our revenues have @ased from $65.2 million in 2011 to $8
million in 2012 and $149.5 million in 2013 whichshielped improve our profitability from a net incemf $3.1 million in 2011 to $11.0
million in 2012 and $51.5 million in 2013.

The following charts show our AUM, net inflows, abtevenues and net income for the periods indicate

WisdomTree Year End AUM WisdomTree ETF Net Inflows

fin hillions) fim hillions)
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TotalBevenues Net Income/{Loss)
(in il ions ) (i aillions)
1495
3312
4.3
5.2
119
231
' i I 2012 ~ 1013 ) ' 2011 ' 12 I 2013 I
The following charts reflect the asset mix andribstion of our ETFs as of December 31, 2013:
AUM By Asset Class AUM By Distribution Channel
Currency and
Institwliomal, Registered
16 Invesimenl
wilviisors &
International Frivate Wealth

Equity, 49% Mamagers,

Wirchouse &

Emerging Broker

Market Eqguity Dealers, 33%
11

Our Industry

An ETF is an investment fund that holds securiiesh as equities or bonds and/or other assetsasugérivatives or commaodities, and
that generally trades at approximately the sanwe@s the net asset value of its underlying commsr®/er the course of the trading day. E
offer exposure to a wide variety of asset clasadsiavestment themes, including domestic, inteomati and global equities, fixed income
securities, as well as securities in specific itdes and countries. There are also ETFs that tadain specific investments, such as
commodities, real estate or currencies.
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We believe ETFs have been one of the most innoatévolutionary and disruptive investment prodactsmerge in the last two deca
in the asset management industry. As of Decemhe2(®l13, there were approximately 1,500 ETFs inlthited States with aggregate AUM of
$1.7 trillion. BlackRock, Inc. projects the U.S gaggate AUM of ETFs could grow to $3.5 trillion B917. The chart below reflects the AUM
of the ETF industry in the United States since 2000

U.5. ETF Industry Year End AUM
{im Billions)

Source: BlackRock

As of December 31, 2013, we were the fifth larg€BE sponsor in the United States by AUM and hadst#eond highest percentage
growth rate in AUM of the top ten ETF sponsorshat ¢nd of 2013:

AUM as of 2013 %
December 31, 201 Organic Growth
(in billions)(1) in AUM (2)
1 iShares $ 662 7.3%
2 State Stree 37¢€ 4.5%
3 Vanguarc 334 22. 1%
4 PowerShare 97 34.%%
| 5 WisdomTree 35 78.5% |
6 ProShare: 27 31.9%
7 Van Eck 22 5.6%
8 Guggenhein 22 58.1%
9 First Trust 20 99.8%
10 Schwak 17 71.5%
Top Ten Tota 1,612
Other U.S. ETF Sponso 89
Total U.S. ETF Industry AUN $1,701

(1) Source: BlackRoc
(2) Source: Strategic Insig

According to Morningstar, Inc., ETFs were initialtyarketed primarily to institutional investors. Hewer, today, institutional investors
account for only about half of the assets heldTiFr& ETFs have become more popular among a brogeé & investors as they come to
understand their benefits and use them for a yaoigpurposes and strategies, including low cadéininvesting and asset allocation, access t
specific asset classes, protective hedging, inageneration, exploitation of arbitrage opportunitasd diversification strategies.
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While ETFs are similar to mutual funds in many exgp, they have some important differences as well:

» Transparency. ETFs disclose the composition of their underlyprogtfolios on a daily basis, unlike mutual fundsieh typically
disclose their holdings only every 90 da

» Intraday trading, hedging strategies and complexders. Like stocks, ETFs can be bought and sold on exgdsathroughout the
trading day at market prices. ETFs update the @iidie values of their underlying portfolios evefy deconds. As publicly-traded
securities, ETF shares can be purchased on mardisad short, enabling the use of hedging stragegind traded using stop orc
and limit orders, which allow investors to spedif price points at which they are willing to tra

* Tax efficiency. In the United States, whenever a mutual fundTf Eealizes a capital gain that is not balanced byalized loss, it
must distribute the capital gain to its shareh@d€&hese gains are taxable to all shareholders, those who reinvest the gain
distributions in additional shares of the fund. Hwer, most ETFs typically redeem their shares jindiin-kind” redemptions in
which low-cost securities are transferred out efHTF in exchange for fund shares in a non-taxaateaction. As a practical
matter, mutual funds cannot use this process. Byguhkis process, ETFs avoid the transaction fedstax impact incurred by
mutual funds that sell securities to generate taglay out redemption

» Uniform pricing . From a cost perspective, ETFs are one of the smstable investment products on the market. ltaves
regardless of their size, structure or sophisticatpay identical advisory fees. Unlike mutual fanBTFs do not have different sh
classes or different expense structures for ratallinstitutional clients and ETFs are not soldhwsiles loads or 12bfees. In man
cases, ETFs offer lower expense ratios than corbfeanautual funds

ETFs are used in various ways by a range of invgstmm conservative to speculative uses including

e Low costindex investin. ETFs provide exposure to a variety of broad-basddxes across equities, commodities, fixed income,
and other asset classes and strategies, and emeth@s both long-term portfolio holdings or shentn trading tools. ETFs offer an
efficient and less costly method by which to gaipasure to indexes as compared to individual stwekership.

» Improved access to specific asset clas. Investors often use ETFs to gain access to sp@cirket sectors or regions around the
world by investing in an ETF that holds a portfadibsecurities in that region or segment rathen thaying individual securitie:

» Protective hedging. Investors seeking to protect their portfolios nugg ETFs as a hedge against unexpected declipeses.

* Income generatior. Investors seeking to obtain income from theittfodios may buy dividend-paying ETFs, which encosgpa
basket of dividend-paying stocks rather than buymagvidual stocks or a fixed income ETF that tygllg distributes monthly
income.

e Speculative investin. Investors with a specific directional opinion aba market sector may choose to buy or sell (lmmghort)
an ETF covering or leveraging that market se«

» Arbitrage. Sophisticated investors may use ETFs in ordexpdoit perceived value differences between the Biidrthe value of
the ETF s underlying portfolio of securitie

» Asset allocatior. Investors seeking to invest in various asseset$o develop an asset allocation model in aefésttive manner
can do so easily with ETFs, which offer broad exjpego various asset classes in a single sec

» Diversification. By definition, ETFs represent a basket of se@giand each fund may contain hundreds or everséimuls of
different individual securities. The “instant digdication” of ETFs provides investors with broagpesure to an asset class, marke
sector or geograph
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ETFs are one of the fastest growing sectors oa#iset management industry, having expanded fronbiigfh in AUM at the beginning of
2000 to $1.7 trillion in AUM at the end of 2013. darding to the Investment Company Institute, sid@@7 ETFs have generated
approximately 51% of the total inflows into ETFddong-term mutual funds. However, during that tiBEle-s generated positive inflows into
equity funds of approximately $821 billion and leteym equity mutual funds experienced outflows mraximately $298 billion. We believe
this trend is due to the inherent benefits of ETRat is: transparency, liquidity and tax efficignc

We believe our growth, and the growth of the ETduistry in general, will continue to be driven b flellowing factors:

Education and greater investor awarene. Over the last several years, ETFs have beengakgreater share of inflows and AUM
from mutual funds. We believe as a result of madketnturns, during the economic crisis investonseehaecome more aware of
some of the deficiencies of mutual funds and ofimancial products. In particular, we believe inwgs are beginning to focus on
important characteristics of their traditional istreents—namely transparency, tradability, liquidigx efficiency and fees. Their
attention and education focused on these impoirtaastment characteristics may be one of the dsieéthe shift in inflows from
traditional mutual funds to ETFs. We believe a®sters become more aware and educated about E@iRseinbenefits, ETFs wi
continue to take market share from traditional mbfunds and other financial products or structwsh as hedge funds, separate
accounts and individual stoclt

Move to fe-based model. Over the last several years, many financial aasibave changed the revenue model that they charge
clients from one that is “transaction-based,” isabased on commissions for trades or receivifgsdaads, to a “fee-based”
approach, where an overall fee is charged basd¢ldeovalue of AUM. This fee-based approach lenddfite the adviser selecting
no-load, lower-fee financial products, and in opinion, better aligns advisers with the interegtgheir clients. Since ETFs
generally charge lower fees than mutual funds, @i@be this model shift will benefit the ETF indstAs major brokerage firms
and asset managers encourage their advisers totowaeds fee-based models, we believe overall usbgd Fs will likely

increase

Innovative product offerings. Historically, ETFs tracked traditional equity axks, but the volume of ETF growth has led to
significant innovation and product development.désnand increased, the number of ETFs has alscasedeand today, ETFs are
available for virtually every asset class includamnmaodities, fixed income, alternative strategiegeraged/inverse, real estate anc
currencies. We believe, though, that there rematistaintial areas for ETF sponsors to continueriovate, including alternative-
and investment theme-based strategies, hard ahdmomodities, and actively-managed strategiesb@élieve the further
expansion of ETFs will fuel further growth and istments from investors who typically access thesdyxts through hedge funds,
separate accounts, stock investments or the futsmégsommodity market

New distribution channels. Discount brokers, including E*Trade, TD Ameriteacchwab and Fidelity, now offer free trading and
promotion of select ETFs. We believe the promotd&TF trading by discount brokers and their marigedf ETFs to a wider
retail channel will contribute to the future grondhETFs.

Changing demographic. As the “baby boomer” generation continues to meatnd retire, we expect that there will be a grmeat
demand for a broad range of investment solutioit, avparticular emphasis on income generationpimatipal protection, and th.
more of these investors will seek advice from pefenal financial advisers. We believe these firdradvisers will migrate more
of their clients’ portfolios to ETFs due to theimter fees, better fit within fee-based models, dugdt ability to (i) provide access to
more diverse market sectors, (ii) improve multiedsdass allocation, and (iii) be used for diffdrieivestment strategies, including
income generation. Overall, we believe ETFs ard-gtéted to meet the needs of this large and ingmbrgroup of investors. In
addition, since many younger investors and findred&isers have demonstrated a preference for Tediucture over traditional
product structures, we believe that wealth traissiem one generation to another will also havesitjve effect on ETF industry
growth.
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Expansion into 401(k) retirement plar. Historically, 401(k) plans were almost exclusivebmprised of mutual funds. However,
we believe ETFs are particularly well-suited to @QXetirement plans and that these plans preskmga and growing opportunity
for our industry. ETFs are easy-to-implement, fatgnsparent investment vehicles covering theréuige of asset allocation
categories, and are available at significantly loeasts than most traditional mutual funds. In &ddj regulatory reform laws
which recently went into effect require 401(K) rethent plan sponsors to disclose all fees assdapeth their plans. While it may
take several years for the fee disclosures to hednalyzed and understood by plan sponsors agid plarticipants, we believe that
as investors become aware of fees associated siitly mutual funds in traditional 401(K) retiremetdns, they will replace higher
fee mutual funds with ETFs because of their loveest

International Markets.We believe the growth of ETFs is a global phenomeighile the U.S. currently represents the vast
majority of global ETF assets, Europe, Asia andrLAmerica are growing quickly. The same growttvdrs powering the U.S.
ETF industry are gradually taking hold in globalrikeds. Additionally, there is an increasing trerichon-U.S. institutional investol
investing in U.S-listed ETFs

Our Competitive Strengths

Well-positioned in large and growing marke. We believe that ETFs are well-positioned to gesignificantly faster than the asset
management industry as a whole, making our coratorrin ETFs a significant advantage versus ditaglitional asset
management firms. In 2011, 2012, and 2013, our Agi&v among the fastest rate of the top 10 ETF sperend at December 31,
2013 we were the fifth largest ETF sponsor in tinitédl States by AUM. Within the ETF industry, bemdrst mover, or one of the
first providers of ETFs in a particular asset ¢lass be a significant advantage. We believe thatarly leadership in a number of
asset classes positions us well to maintain a fshibeposition

Strong performance. We create our own indexes, rebalanced annuabigt of which weight companies in our equity ETFsaby
measure of fundamental value. In contrast, tratkiiandexes are market capitalization weightedtend to track the momentum of
the market. In addition, we also offer actively mged ETFs, which are ETFs that are not based antigyar index but rather are
actively managed with complete transparency intoBfF'’s portfolio on a daily basis, as well as EBRsed on third party indexes.
In evaluating the performance of our Equity, Fixedome and Alternatives ETFs against actively madaand index based mutual
funds and ETFs, as of December 31, 2013 85% d3Be9 billion invested in our Equity, Fixed Incomed Alternatives ETFs and
56% (28 of 50) of our ETFs outperformed their comapée Morningstar average since incepti

Diversified product set, powered by innovati. We have a broad and diverse product set. Oumptsdpan a variety of traditional
and high growth asset classes, including emergiagets, international and U.S. equities, intermati@and U.S. fixed income,
currencies, and alternatives, and include bothiypassd actively managed funds. Our product devekt, research and sales
teams work closely to identify potential new ETBsthe marketplace. Because we have the regulat@mptive relief that enables
us to use our own indexes for our ETFs, we havealtfildy to create certain indexes and related EfBse rapidly than many of o
competitors who must license indexes from thirdyperdex providers. Our exemptive relief also eeahis to offer actively
managed funds. Our innovations include launchirgnidustry’s first emerging markets small-cap eg&TF, the first actively
managed currency ETFs, one of the first internatitotal currency denominated fixed income ETFs thedfirst managed futures
strategy ETF. We believe that our expertise in povdievelopment combined with our regulatory exéveptelief provides a
strategic advantage, enabling us to launch inne@&iTFs that others may not be able to launch Eklgu

Extensive marketing, research and sales effc. We have invested significant resources to esfaltlie WisdomTree brand throt
targeted television, print and online advertisisggial media, as well as through our public refeiefforts. The majority of our
employees are dedicated to marketing, researclsaad. Our sales professionals are the primantgofrcontact for financial
advisers, independent advisory firms and instinglonvestors who use our ETFs. Their efforts anlga@ced through value-added
services provided by our research and marketiraytsffWe have stron

8
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relationships with financial advisers at leadingiorzal brokerage firms, registered investment aghgignd high net worth advisers.
We believe the recent growth we have experiencestrayegically aligning these adviser relationskipd marketing campaigns
with targeted research and sales initiatives difféates us from our competitors and contributesutostrong inflows

Efficient business model with lower risk profil. We have invested heavily in the internal develeptrof our core competencies
with respect to product development, marketingeaesh and sales of ETFs. We outsource to thirdegsattiose services that are not
our core competencies or may be resource or rieksive, such as the portfolio management respititisdbband fund accounting
operations of our ETFs. In addition, since we @eatr own indexes for most of our ETFs, we usuddlynot incur licensing costs
and can therefore be more competitive in terms@fiées we charge for our index-based ETFs. We &lagady made substantial
investments in our core competencies, and we expdx able to leverage these existing capabili@ess our business,
positioning us to maintain both growth and profiliah

Strong, seasoned and creative management t. We have built a strong and dedicated senior lshieteam. Most of our
leadership team has significant ETF or financiabises industry experience in fund operations, k&tguy and compliance
oversight, product development and management dtatiag and communications. We believe our teanmjdseloping an ETF
sponsor from the ground up despite significant oetitipe, regulatory and operational barriers, hasdnstrated an ability to
innovate as well as recognize and respond to magkatrtunities and effectively execute our stratt

Our Growth Strategies

Our goal is to become an asset manager with @t$48¢ billion in ETF AUM, since we believe econ@siof scale is a competitive
advantage in the ETF industry. In 2009, we wereetbeenth largest ETF sponsor. We increased our AtJbecome the eighth largest ETF
sponsor in 2010, the seventh largest in 2012 amdifth largest in 2013, with $34.9 billion in AUMVe believe our continued execution will
enable us to increase trading volumes and builgdoperformance track records, which should allswouattract additional investors and, in
turn, further grow our AUM. We will seek to increasur market share and build additional scale Imfisoing to implement the following
growth strategies:

Increase penetration within existing distributionhannels.We believe there is an opportunity to increasenoarket share by
further penetrating existing distribution chanressl by cross-selling additional WisdomTree ETFriter to achieve these
objectives, we intend to continue our strategyaofeéted advertising and direct marketing, coupléd aur research-focused sales
support initiatives, to enhance product awarenedsracrease our market share of ETF net inflows. $bare of ETF industry net
inflows has fluctuated from 2.7% in 2010, to 3.3%20D11, to 2.6% in 2012 and 8.0% in 20

Launch innovative new products that diversify ourquluct offerings and revenue. We believe our track record has shown tha
can create and sell innovative ETFs that meet mam®and. We believe that continued launches of preducts will strengthen
our business by allowing us to realize additionflbivs, maintain and grow our AUM and generate nexss across different mart
cycles as particular investment strategies mowanahout of favor

Expand internationally.To date, our sales and marketing has been pritgifolused on the domestic U.S. market. Howevepf22
our ETFs have been cross-listed in the specialiat®mnal section on the Mexican stock exchangere/eertain institutional
investors trade foreign securities in Mexico. Additlly, 13 of our ETFs were approved by the Chilpansion funds investment
regulator for sale to Chilean pension funds andfl®ur ETFs were approved by the Peruvian pensiadd investment regulator
sale to Peruvian pension funds. In 2010 we entietech marketing arrangement with the Compass Gtouparket WisdomTree
ETFs in Latin America. We also filed notificationdéth the Financial Services Agency of Japan makiegen of our ETFs available
for sale in Japan through Japanese securities gcoegpads ETFs are increasingly traded globally bekeve that international
expansion of our marketing, communication and sstiedegies will provide significant new growth aves. We have established
an Irish Undertakings for Collective Investment§ mnansferable Securities (“UCITS”) trust to givethe option to capitalize on
growth opportunities outside of the United Sta@s.January 31, 2014, we announced a plan to laaptatform for European ETF
operations through a majority investment in U.Kséxd exchange traded product (“ETP”) provider B&OE® LLP (“Boost”).
Through this platform, we intend to launch a setaoge of UCITS ETFs under the WisdomTree brandcamdinue to manage al
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grow the Boost lineup of short and leveraged fatiflateralized ETPs under the Boost brand. Sulbgetgulatory approval and
other customary closing conditions, the transadaxpected to close in the first half of 20

» Selectively pursue acquisitions or partnershijwe may pursue acquisitions or enter into partnpsshi other commercial
arrangements that will enable us to strengthercotrent business, expand and diversify our prodffeting, increase our AUM or
enter into new markets. We believe entering intdrgaships or pursuing acquisitions is a cost-géiffeaneans of growing our
business and AUM. For example, in 2007, we purdhasetain assets and intellectual property fromaSuey Equity, LLC which
formed the basis for our currency ETFs. In 2008 ewiered into a joint venture with Mellon Capitahivagement Corporation
(“Mellon Capital”) and The Dreyfus Corporation (“&yfus”) with respect to our currency and fixed imeETFs, which enabled us
to bring these ETFs to market faster than woul@mwtise have been possible. This joint venture erdélde end of 2012. On
January 31, 2014 we announced a plan to launchtfoph for European ETF operations through a migjanvestment in Boost
described above

Regulatory Framework of the ETF Industr

Not all ETPs are ETFs. ETFs are a distinct typsegiurity with features that are different than o#&8€Ps. ETFs are open-end investmen
companies or unit investment trusts regulated byinkkestment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment ConypAct”). This regulatory structure
designed to provide investor protection within aled investment product. For example, the Investr@@mpany Act requires that at least
40% of the Trustees for each ETF must not be afffiti persons of the fund’s investment manager €ppeddent Trustees”). If the ETF seeks tc
rely on certain rules under the Investment Compety a majority of the Trustees for that ETF mustibdependent Trustees. In addition, as
discussed below, ETFs have received orders fromsttfeof the SEC which exempt them from certaiomsions of the Investment Company
Act; however, ETFs generally operate under reguiatthat prohibit affiliated transactions, are sabjo standard pricing and valuation rules
and have mandated compliance programs. ETPs carataldmber of forms other than ETFs, including exge traded notes, grantor trusts or
limited partnerships. In the U.S. market, a keytdadifferentiating ETFs, grantor trusts and lindigartnerships from exchange traded notes is
that the former hold assets underlying the ETPhBrge traded notes, on the other hand, are dehirimsnts issued by the exchange traded
note sponsor. Also, each of these structures hglécations for taxes, liquidity, tracking error anckedit risk.

Because ETFs do not fit into the regulatory prarisigoverning mutual funds, ETF sponsors needtairokexemptive relief” from the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEf@3)n certain provisions of the Investment Compary ik order to operate ETFs. This exem
relief allows the ETF sponsor to bring to market $pecific products or structures for which théefekas requested and obtained. Applying fo
exemptive relief can be costly and take severalth®io several years depending on the type of etieengelief sought. See “Business—
Regulation” below.

Our Products

As of December 31, 2013, we offered a compreherfaivdly of 61 ETFs, of which 44 are listed on NY8Ea, a listing venue of NYSE
Euronext, and 17 are listed on the NASDAQ StockKdar22 of our ETFs have also been cross-listetherMexican stock exchange.

The type and AUM for each of our ETFs as of Decan3ie 2013:

Category Number of Funds AUM ($ in Billions)
International Hedged Equity 6 13,34¢
Emerging Markets Equit 7 7,44¢
U.S. Equity 13 7,181
International Developed Equi 16 3,86¢
Fixed Income 11 1,90¢
Currency 6 97¢
Alternative Strateg' 2 15¢

Total 61 $ 34,88
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Equity ETFs

We offer equity ETFs that offer access to the séearof large, mid and small-cap companies locatetie United States, international
developed markets and emerging markets, as wphkuisular market sectors and styles. Our equitiFEffack our own fundamentally
weighted indexes, as opposed to market capitadizatieighted indexes, which assign more weightdokst with the highest market
capitalizations. These fundamentally weighted imsefocus on securities of companies that pay regakh dividends or on securities of
companies that have generated positive cumula#iugiregs over a certain period. We believe weighéggity markets by income, rather than
by market capitalization, can provide investorshviietter risk-adjusted returns over longer terniopksrin core equity exposures. Our equity
ETFs are sub-advised by Mellon Capital, a subsidi&iThe Bank of New York Mellon Corporation (“BNMellon”).

International Hedged Equity ETF:

In December 2009, we began launching currency tiedgaity ETFs and have six such ETFs in the maddsty. These ETFs provide
exposure to a specified international equity mavkate hedging the currency exposure of that marédeitive to the U.S. dollar. Our
International Hedged Equity ETFs are sub-adviseibijon Capital.

Currency ETFs

We launched the industry’s first currency ETFs iayM2008 using our regulatory exemption for activalgnaged funds. We offer
currency ETFs that provide investors with exposardeveloped and emerging markets currencies,dimguthe Chinese Yuan and the
Brazilian Real. In December 2013, we launched a Ddlar Bullish Fund licensing a new Bloomberg éxd Currency ETFs invest in U.S.
money market securities, forward currency contranot swaps and seek to achieve the total retufiestiee of both money market rates in
selected countries available to foreign investoid @éhanges to the value of these currencies relatithe U.S. dollar. Our Currency ETFs are
sub-advised by Mellon Capital.

Fixed Income ETFs

In 2010, we began launching international fixecoime ETFs that invest in emerging market countAssa Pacific ex-Japan countries or
European countries. These ETFs are denominatathir éocal or U.S. currencies. We intend to lauadhitional fixed income bond funds and
broaden our product offerings in this category. @ed income ETFs are sub-advised by either Mellapital or Western Asset Management,
a subsidiary of Legg Mason. In December 2013, wadhed a suite of Rising Rate Bond ETFs basedatting fixed income benchmarks we
license from third parties. Our Rising Rate Bond-EBre sub-advised by Mellon Capital.

Alternative Strategy ETF:

In 2011, we launched the industry’s first managedres strategy ETF and a global real return ETE.&f80 intend to explore additional
alternative strategy products in the future. Ounitged Futures Strategy ETF is aatbsised by Mellon Capital and our Global Real RetdTF
is sub-advised by Western Asset Management.

Sales, Marketing and Research

We distribute our ETFs through all major channekhiw the asset management industry, including erage firms, registered investm
advisers, institutional investors, private wealthnmagers and discount brokers. Our primary salestefare not directed towards the retail
segment but rather are directed towards the fiahociinvestment adviser who acts as the internmgdiatween the end-client and us. We do
not pay commissions nor do we offer 12b-1 feednarfcial advisers to use or recommend the use E®ES.

We have developed an extensive network and rekdtipa with financial advisers and we believe ouFE&and related research are well
structured to meet their needs and those of tlieimts. Our sales professionals act in a consuttatile to provide the financial adviser with
value-added services. We seek to consistently growetwork of financial advisers and we opportticésly seek to introduce new products
that best deliver our investment strategies tostors through these distribution channels. We loawveown team of 40 sales professionals
located in the United States as of December 313.201
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In addition, we have agreements with third partiieserve as the external marketing agents for tlsgl®vhTree ETFs in Latin America as
well as with E*Trade Financial to allow our ETFsttade commission free on its brokerage platforraxichange for a percentage of our
advisory fee revenue from certain AUM. We beligvese arrangements expand our distribution capabiiit a cost-effective manner and we
may continue to enter into such arrangements irfutuee.

Our marketing effort is focused on three objectif§ggenerating new clients and inflows to our ETHi) retaining existing clients, with
a focus on cross-selling additional WisdomTree EHiRgl (iii) building brand awareness. We pursuséhabjectives through a multi-faceted
marketing strategy targeted at financial advis@fs.utilize the following strategies:

e Targeted advertisingWe create highly targeted multi-media advertisiagipaigns limited to established core financial raeHor
example, our television advertising runs exclusivai the cable networks CNBC and Bloomberg Telewisonline advertising rut
on investing or ETFpecific web sites, such as www.seekingalpha.catamw.etfdatabase.com; and print advertising ransore
financial publications, including Barr’s and Invest(’s Business Daily

» Media relations.We have a full time public relations team who hastablished relationships with the major finanoialdia outlets
including: the Wall Street Journal, Barron’s, thiedhcial Times, Bloomberg, Reuters and USA Todag. Milize these
relationships to help create awareness of the Wh3dee ETFs and the ETF industry in general. Sevaeshbers of our
management team are frequent market commentatdrscaference panelisi

» Direct marketing. We have a database of financial advisers to wivielegularly market through targeted and segmented
communications, such as on-demand research préeeste&ETF-specific or educational events and pregmns, quarterly
newsletters and market commentary from our seniggstment strategy adviser, Professor Jeremy S

» Social medie. We have implemented a social media strategyaif@i/s us to connect directly with financial advisand investors
by offering timely access to our research matena more general market commentary. Our social angtdategy allows us to
continue to enhance our brand reputation of exgeend thought leadership in the ETF indut

» Sales suppor. We create comprehensive materials to supporsales process including whitepapers, researchtepegbinars,
blogs, podcasts and performance data for our E

We will continue to evolve our marketing and comication efforts in response to changes in the Eitlastry, market conditions and
marketing trends.

Our research team has three core functions: indegldpment and oversight, investment research aled support. In its index
development role, the research group is responfiblereating the investment methodologies and seeing the maintenance of our indexes
that WisdomTree’s equity ETFs are designed to trable team also provides a variety of investmesgaech around these indexes and marke
segments. Our research is typically academic-tgpearch to support our products, including whiigepsion the strategies underlying our
indexes and ETFs, investment insights on curremketarends, and types of investment strategietsdtige long-term performance. We
distribute our research through our sales professso online through our website and blog, targetadils to financial advisers, or through
financial media outlets. On some occasions ourarebehas been included in “op-ed” articles appegirirthe Wall Street Journal. Shorter
research notes are also developed to promote eas idhich are distributed online through socialimetannels. Finally, the research team
supports our sales professionals in meetings akahexperts and through custom analysis on cliertfgio holdings. In addition, we consult
with our senior investment strategy adviser, Psdfederemy Siegel, on product development ideasramilet commentaries.

Product Development

We are focused on driving continued growth throingtovative product development. Due to our broaskdaegulatory exemptive reli
proprietary index development capabilities, antratesgic focus on product development at the sememagement level, we have demonstrate
an ability to launch innovative and differentiate@iFs. When developing new funds, we seek to integuroduct that can be first to market,
offer some improvement in structure or strateggtied to an incumbent product, or offer some olegr distinction relative to an incumbent
product. In short, we want to add choice in thekaband seek to introduce thoughtful investmenitsmhs by avoiding commoditized product.
Lastly, when launching new products we seek to ednd diversify our overall product line.
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Competition

The asset management industry is highly competithctwe face substantial competition in virtuallygapects of our business. Factors
affecting our business include fees for our progluctvestment performance, brand recognition, lassimeputation, quality of service and the
continuity of our financial adviser relationshipe compete directly with other ETF sponsors andualfund companies and indirectly aga
other investment management firms, insurance compananks, brokerage firms and other financigitutgons that offer products that have
similar features and investment objectives to thtadfered by us. The vast majority of the firms vmrpete with are subsidiaries of large
diversified financial companies and many othersnaneh larger in terms of AUM, years in operationd sevenues and, accordingly, have
much larger sales organizations and budgets. litiaadthese larger competitors may attract busirieeough means that are not available to
us, including retail bank offices, investment baxgkiinsurance agencies and broker-dealers.

The ETF industry is becoming significantly more gqmatitive as existing players compete on price awodden their suite of products to
different strategies, in some cases, similar t@.odor example, in August 2013, Charles Schwab &l&mched six ETFs using the Russell
fundamentally weighted indexes with fees generdjyivalent with our comparable ETFs. In Septemdi32iShares filed a registration
statement for three currency hedged equity ETHsdling a Japan hedged equity ETF. Those ETFs lathzhFebruary 2014 with fees
generally equivalent with comparable ETFs. Alsou8ehe Bank renamed five of their equity ETFs tesst their currency hedging strategy
and launched three additional currency hedged e&liFs. More recently, iShares launched a floatatg treasury ETF on the same day as w
launched our similar ETF; however, iShares waiveabffor one year while we did not.

We do not know what effect, if any, the launchlidge ETFs may have on our business. Within theigdwstry, being a first mover, or
one of the first providers of ETFs in a particudaset class, can be a significant advantage, d8shETF in a category to attract scale in AUM
and trading liquidity is generally viewed as thestnattractive ETF. We believe that our early lauaEETFs in a number of asset classes or
strategies, including fundamental weighting andenry hedging, positions us well to maintain ousifjon as one of the leaders of the ETF
industry.

In 2008, the SEC announced a proposal to allow Ed Ferm and operate without the need to obtaim®tere relief. This proposed rule
was never adopted and there are indications thatarule could be proposed in 2014. In March 28€,SEC announced it would defer
approval of applications for exemptive relief fOFfEs that make significant use of derivatives pegdinmeview by the SEC of the use of
derivatives by mutual funds, ETFs and other invesintompanies. This moratorium was lifted in Decenftf12 and now potential
competitors with the exemptive relief can compeith wertain of our products. However, to date tECShas not indicated whether the review
time period or process required to obtain theah#xemptive relief will be altered. In additiorertain large mutual fund complexes have
obtained exemptive relief to launch actively mambgé&Fs but have not done so yet. Removing the bianger to obtain exemptive relief may
bring additional competitors into the marketplace.

We believe our ability to successfully compete w#pend largely on our competitive product struetmd our ability to offer exposure
compelling investment strategies, develop distidyutelationships, create new investment produmitdd trading volume and AUM in existing
funds, offer a diverse platform of investment clesicbuild upon our successful brand and attractetadh talented sales professionals and
other employees.

Regulation

The investment management industry is subject tensive regulation and virtually all aspects of business are subject to various
federal and state laws and regulations. These damdgegulations are primarily intended to protagestment advisory clients and shareholder
of registered investment companies. These lawsrghygrant supervisory agencies broad administegpiowers, including the power to limit
or restrict the conduct of our business and to epanctions for failure to comply with these land regulations. Further, such laws and
regulations may provide the basis for litigatioattmay also result in significant costs to us.

We are currently subject to the following laws aadulations, among others. The costs of complyiit gsuch laws and regulations have
increased and will continue to contribute to thets@f doing business:

e The Investment Advisers Act of 19(“Investment Advisers Act”). The SEC is the fedeagency generally responsible for
administering the U.S. federal securities laws. ubsidiary, WisdomTree Asset Management, Inc. (AM), is registered as an
investment adviser under the Investment Adviseitsafid, as such, is regulated by the SEC. The ImaystAdvisers Act requires
registered investment advisers to comply with nwastand broad obligatior
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including, among others, recordkeeping requiremamsrational procedures, registration and repgind disclosure obligatior

* The Investment Company Act of 1940 he WisdomTree ETFs are registered with the S&Guyant to the Investment Company
Act. The WisdomTree ETFs must comply with the reguients of the Investment Company Act and relaggdlations, as well as
conditions imposed in the exemptive orders recebyethe ETFs, including, among others, requiremssitting to operations, fees
charged, sales, accounting, recordkeeping, disaamud governanc

» Broker-Dealer Regulations. Although we are not registered with the SEC beo&er-dealer under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, nor are we a member firm ofittenEial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), amy of our employees,
including all of our salespersons, are licenseth WINRA and are registered as associated persahe afistributor of the
WisdomTree ETFs and, as such, are subject to théatons of FINRA that relate to licensing, coniimg education requirements
and sales practices. FINRA also regulates the nbofeour marketing and sales mater

* Internal Revenue Cod. WisdomTree Trust generally has obligations wéspect to the qualification of the registered itwesnt
company for pa-through tax treatment under the Internal RevenuseC

* U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commissiof CFTC”) . In 2012, the CFTC adopted regulations that hageired us to become
a member of the National Futures Association agdter as a Commodity Pool Operator for a selentlyar of our ETF<

» DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection tAaf 2010. This comprehensive overhaul of the financial ®ew
regulatory environment requires federal agenciéspplement numerous new rules, which, as they dopted may impose
additional regulatory burdens and expenses on asinbss

Because ETFs do not fit into the regulatory pransigoverning mutual funds, ETF sponsors needtirofrom the SEC exemptive
relief from certain provisions of the Investmentn@many Act in order to operate ETFs. This exemptélef allows the ETF sponsor to bring
products to market for the specific products ancttires for which the relief was requested andinbth Applying for exemptive relief can be
costly and take several months to several yearsmiipg on the type of exemptive relief sought. BatkdomTree ETF is listed on a
secondary market (each, an “Exchange”) and anyWesdomTree ETF will seek listing on an Exchange.i/the SEC has already approved
rules for Exchanges to allow index-based ETFsstatiat meet prescribed requirements (e.g., minimumber, market value and trading
volume of securities in the new ETF’s benchmarleijdthese rules do not allow any actively mandg€Hs or index-based ETFs that do not
meet the prescribed requirements without specl€ @pproval. The SEC approval process has histlyriedken months to complete and, in
some cases, years. The SEC may ultimately detemoint® allow such potential new WisdomTree ETFsal require strategy modifications
prior to approval.

FINRA rules and guidance may affect how WisdomTE&é&s are sold by member firms. Although WisdomTeesently does not offer
so-called leveraged ETFs, which may include withigir holdings derivative instruments such as gsifutures or swaps, recent FINRA
guidance on margin requirements and suitabilitgaeinations with respect to customers trading wedlaged ETFs may influence how merr
firms effect sales of certain WisdomTree ETFs, sagleurrency ETFs, which also use some forms afateres, including forward currency
contracts and swaps.

Finally, our common stock is traded on the NASDADRIal Select Market and we are therefore also stilijetheir rules including
corporate governance listing standards. In additiom WisdomTree ETFs are listed on NYSE Arca erNASDAQ Market, and accordingly
are subject to the listing requirements of thosgharges.

Property

Our principal executive office is located at 245KPAvenue, New York, New York 10167. We occupy apgmately 38,000 square feet
of office space under a lease that expires in 2088.
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Intellectual Property

We regard our name, WisdomTree, as material tdosiness and have registered Wisdom™®ras a service mark with the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office and in various foreign jurisidins.

Our index-based equity ETFs are based on our odaxi&s and we do not license them from, nor do wdipansing fees to, third parties
for these indexes. We do, however, license thirtypadexes for certain of our fixed income, curgmmnd alternative ETFs.

On March 6, 2012, the U.S. Patent and Trademaric®i§sued to us our patent on Financial Instrur@etéction and Weighting System
and Method, which is embodied in our dividend wégghequity indexes. We also have two patent apgics pending with the U.S. Patent :
Trademark office that relate to the operation af BliIFs and our index methodology. There is no asgg that patents will be issued from
these applications and we currently do not relyrupar recently issued or future patents for a cditipe advantage.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 87 full-time empks; Of these employees, 40 are engaged in osrfsaletion with the remainder
providing managerial, finance, marketing, legagjulatory compliance, operations and research fanstiNone of our employees are covered
by a collective bargaining agreement and we considerelations with employees to be good.

Segment and Geographic Areas

We operate as one business segment, as an ETFospmdsasset manager providing investment advisenyices. Revenues are derived
in the U.S. and all of our assets are currentlated in the U.S.

Available Information
Company Website and Public Filings

Our website is located at www.wisdomtree.com, amditovestor relations website is located at hitpafisdomtree.com. We make
available, free of charge through our investortietes website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, §arly Reports on Form 1Q-and Currer
Reports on Form &, and amendments to those reports, filed or flwedspursuant to Sections 13(a) or Section 15(theBecurities Exchan
Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonablijqatale after they have been electronically filethwor furnished to, the SEC. The public
may read and copy any materials filed by us with$iEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100eetSNE, Washington, D.C., 20549.
The public may obtain information on the operatdnhe Public Reference Room by calling the SEC-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains ¢
website that contains reports, proxy and infornrasitatements, and other information regarding the@any at www.sec.gov.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain evenigant&ipate in or host with members of the investitrcommunity on our investor
relations website. Additionally, we provide notdttons of news or announcements regarding our diahperformance, including SEC filings,
investor events, press and earnings releasestasf parr investor relations website. Further cogiergovernance information, including board
committee charters and code of conduct, is alsidadola on our investor relations website underhtbading “Corporate Governance.” The
contents of our websites are not incorporated fgreace into this Annual Report on Form 10-K oany other report or document we file with
the SEC, and any references to our websites aedatl to be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Any investment in our common stock involves a tiegree of risk. You should consider carefully ihecsic risk factors described below
in addition to the other information contained mg Report before making a decision to invest inaammmon stock. If any of these risks
actually occur, our business, operating resultsaficial condition and prospects could be harmeds Thuld cause the trading price of our
common stock to decline and a loss of all or pastaur investment. Certain statements below are/déod-looking statements. See the section
entitled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-LookiSgatements.”

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry

Recent historical growth may not provide an accugaepresentation of the growth we may experiencéhia future, which may make
difficult to evaluate our future prospects.

We launched our first 20 ETFs in June 2006. Wermzlsignificant losses following the launch of diust ETFs. We first reported net
income in the first quarter of 2011 and we onlydretp generate positive cash flow on a full qurteasis in the second fiscal quarter of the
year ended December 31, 2010 and, as a resulhtreistorical growth may not provide an accuraresentation of the growth we m
experience in the future, which may make it diffido evaluate our future prospects. Although weeh@eported net income for the 2011, 2012
and 2013 fiscal years, we may not be able to miaitaincrease our level of profitability. Prior ¢ggenerating net income for 2011, we incurred
net losses of $27.0 million, $21.2 million and $mblion in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. Efeough we have achieved profitability,
because of the various risks outlined in this Repee cannot assure you that we will continue t@iluditable.

The significant growth we have experienced over ffast three years may be difficult to sustain.

Our AUM increased from $9.9 billion as of DecemBé&r 2010 to $34.9 billion as of December 31, 201& absolute measure of our
AUM represents a significant rate of growth thas baen and may continue to be difficult to sustairthermore, as we grow larger and
increase our AUM, it may become increasingly diffidco maintain our current rate of growth. In adxh, as compared to 17 other traditional
publicly traded asset managers, we were ranked eumie for our rate of organic growth of 78.5% @12. The continued growth of our
business will depend on, among other things, oilityato retain and recruit key investment professls, to devote sufficient resources to
maintaining existing investment strategies ancetectively develop new, value-added investmentesgias. Our business growth will also
depend on our success in achieving superior invagtperformance from our investment strategiesyedsas our ability to maintain and
extend our distribution capabilities, to deal withanging market conditions, to maintain adequai@nitial and business controls and to compl
with new legal and regulatory requirements arisingesponse to both the increased sophisticatidgheoinvestment management industry and
the significant market and economic events of dsé flew years.

Challenging global market conditions associated kvideclining prices of securities can adversely affeur business by reducing the market
value of the assets we manage or causing WisdomHEE€E shareholders to sell their fund shares andgger redemptions.

We are subject to risks arising from adverse chaungglobal market conditions and the declininggsiof securities, which may result in
a decrease in demand for investment products,tehigdemption rate and/or a decline in AUM. Theusities markets are highly volatile and
securities prices may increase or decrease for measpns, including general economic conditionBtipal events, acts of terrorism and other
matters beyond our control. Substantially all of mvenue is determined by the amount of our AUM smbstantially all (91%) of our AUM .
December 31, 2013 was represented by equity sesyiitt both the international and U.S. marketsaAssult, our business can be expected t
generate lower revenue in declining equity markeirenments or general economic downturns. A dedinthe prices of securities held by
WisdomTree ETFs may cause our revenue to decliratbgr causing the value of our AUM to decreas@civwould result in lower advisory
fees, or causing investors in the WisdomTree EdFll their shares in favor of investments thecewe to offer greater opportunity or lower
risk, thus triggering redemptions that would alssult in decreased AUM and lower fees.

Fluctuations in the amount and mix of our AUM mayegatively impact revenue and operating margin.

The level of our revenue depends on the level amdfrour AUM. Our revenue is derived primarily froadvisory fees based on a
percentage of the value of our AUM and varies whth nature of the ETFs, which have different feelle Fluctuations in the amount and mix
of our AUM may be attributable in part to markehddions outside of our control that have had, intthe future could have, a negative img
on our revenue and operating margin.
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We are subject to an increased risk of asset lipfdtiom changes in the foreign markets as diseddselow. Individual markets may be
adversely affected by economic, political, finahaota other instabilities that are particular te ttountry or regions in which a market is loca
including without limitation local acts of terrons economic crises or other business, social dtigallcrises. Declines in these markets and
currency fluctuations have caused in the pastnaayl cause in the future, a decline in our reve@i&nging market conditions and currency
fluctuations may cause a shift in our asset mixben foreign and U.S. assets, potentially resultingdecline in our revenue since we
generally derive higher fee revenue from our ETv&sting in foreign markets, particularly in emexggimarkets.

We have had in the past, and in the future may,hHavestors who maintain significant positions imecor more of our ETFs. If such an
investor were to broadly change or withdraw itseisiments in our ETFs because of a change to isiment strategy, market conditions or
any other reason, it may significantly change gwel and mix of our AUM, which may negatively affetir revenue and operating margin.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue frarimited number of products and, as a result, oaperating results are particularly
exposed to the performance of those funds, investamtiment toward the strategies pursued by thaseds and our ability to maintain the
assets under management of those funds.

At December 31, 2013, approximately 77% of our BIUM was concentrated in ten of our WisdomTree EfWish 35% in
WisdomTree Japan Hedged Equity Fund). As a resuitpperating results are particularly exposedhéoperformance of those funds, investor
sentiment toward investing in the strategies putdnethose funds and our ability to maintain theMOf those funds.

Most of our assets under management are held in ETtRat invest in foreign securities and we thereddnave substantial exposure
foreign market conditions and are subject to currenexchange rate risk

Many of our ETFs invest in securities of compangsjernments and other organizations located autbiel United States and at
December 31, 2013, approximately 76% of our AUM Wwekl by these ETFs. Therefore, the success dbusiness is closely tied to market
conditions in foreign markets. Investments in nas.Ussuers are affected by political, social acmhemic uncertainty effecting a country or
region in which we are invested. In addition, fletions in foreign currency exchange rates couddce the revenue we earn from these
foreign invested ETFs. This occurs because anasera the value of the U.S. dollar relative to-hb8. currencies may result in a decrease ir
the dollar value of the AUM in these ETFs, whiahfurn, would result in lower revenue. Furthermadmggstors are likely to believe these
ETFs, as well as certain of our currency and fixedme ETFs, are a less attractive investment dppity when the value of the U.S. dollar
rises relative to non-U.S. currencies, which cddge the effect of reducing investments in these<€:Thus reducing revenue.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue frgmmoducts invested in securities of Japanese conipammnd are exposed to the market-
specific political and economic risk, as well asrgeal investor sentiment regarding future growth diis market and currency fluctuations

At December 31, 2013, approximately 37% of our BIUM was concentrated in three of our WisdomTree &Tat primarily invest in
equity securities issued by companies in Japatydimg one fund, WisdomTree Japan Hedged EquitydFtirat accounted for 35% of our E
AUM. As a result, our operating results are pattidy exposed to the performance of those fundsnemic and market conditions in this
market, general investor sentiment regarding fuguosvth in this market and currency fluctuationd aur ability to maintain the AUM of tho
funds. If the AUM in these funds were to declingher because of declining market values or becatiset outflows from these funds, our
revenue would be adversely affected.
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We derive a substantial portion of our revenue fragnoducts invested in emerging markets and are esqubto the market-specific political
and economic risks as well as general investor gaent regarding future growth of those markets.

At December 31, 2013, approximately 25% of our AIUMM was concentrated in nine of our WisdomTree ETfad primarily invest in
equity or fixed income securities issued by comesior governments in emerging markets. In 2013.cxppately 41% of our revenue was
derived from those nine ETFs. As a result, our afieg results are particularly exposed to the perémce of those funds, economic and me
conditions in those emerging markets, general tovesentiment regarding future growth in those agimgy markets and our ability to maintain
the AUM of those funds. In addition, because tHages have a higher expense ratio than our othetsfin general, they generate a
disproportionate percentage of our total reveriuthel AUM in these funds were to decline, eithecdaese of declining market values or
because of net outflows from these funds, our reeemould be adversely affected.

WisdomTree ETFs have a limited track record and paavestment performance could cause our revenualé&zline.

Our ETFs have a limited track record upon whicleaaluation of their investment performance can beenAt December 31, 2013, of
our total 61 ETFs, 41 had a three year track reobwhich 37 ETFs had a five year track record tirenmore, as part of our strategy, we
continuously evaluate our product offerings to eaghat all of our funds are useful, compelling difterentiated investment offerings, to m
competitively align our overall product line in therrent ETF landscape and to reallocate our ateaind resources to areas of greater client
interest. As a result, we may further adjust owdpict offering which may result in the closing ofree of our ETFs, changing their investment
objective or offering of new funds. The investmpatformance of our funds is important to our susceéghile strong investment performance
could stimulate sales of our ETFs, poor investnpentormance, on an absolute basis or as compatéddgarty benchmarks or competitive
products, could lead to a decrease in sales oulgtimredemptions, thereby lowering the AUM andudg our revenue. Our fundamentally-
weighted equity ETFs are designed to provide thergi@l for better risk-adjusted investment retusksr full market cycles and are best suitec
for investors with a longer-term investment horizBlowever, the investment approach of our equitfF&may not perform well during certain
shorter periods of time during different pointghe economic cycle.

We have depended upon on a third party to providewith critical administrative services to operatar business and the WisdomTree
ETFs. Commencing in April 2014, we will change ton@w third party administrative provider. The faita of such administrative provider
successfully take over these services or to adegjyairovide such services once implemented, couddemally affect our operating busines
and harm WisdomTree ETF shareholders.

We currently depend upon BNY Mellon to provide WesdomTree Trust with custody services, fund actiognadministration, transfer
agency and securities lending services. CommernigiAgril 2014, State Street Bank and Trust Comp@Byate Street”) will be providing
these services for us. The failure of State Stesticcessfully provide us and the WisdomTree BENiftsthese services could result in finan
loss to us and WisdomTree ETF shareholders. Irtiaddbecause we have not had any experience yetState Street and State Street will be
responsible for providing a multitude of importaetvices to us, implementing this change of pragiadll be challenging.

We depend on BNY Mellon and Western Asset Manageinteprovide portfolio management services and athierd parties to provide
many critical services to operate our business ahd WisdomTree ETFs. The failure of key vendorsaidequately provide such services
could materially affect our operating business ahdrm WisdomTree ETF shareholders.

We depend on third party vendors to provide us wittny services that are critical to operating asitess, including BNY Mellon and
Western Asset Management, as sub-advisers thaderas with portfolio management services, thirdyproviders of index calculation
services for our indexes, a distributor of the Wisdree ETFs and a third party provider of indicat#alues of the portfolios of the
WisdomTree ETFs. The failure of any of these kaydags to provide us and the WisdomTree ETFs wiglsétservices could lead to
operational issues and result in financial losss@nd WisdomTree ETF shareholders.
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The asset management business is intensely conipetiany of our competitors have greater markegsé, offer a broader range of
products and have greater financial resources thae do. As a result, we may experience pressureswrpricing and market share

Our business operates in intensely competitivestigisegments. We compete directly with other Efénsors and mutual fund
companies and indirectly against other investmeamiagement firms, insurance companies, banks, tag&dirms and other financial
institutions that offer products that have simfletures and investment objectives to those offbyeds. We compete based on a number of
factors, including name recognition, service, inent performance, product features and breadgiaafuct choices, and fees. Recently
several ETF sponsors with whom we directly competeseeking to obtain market shares based on kesv féany of our competitors have
greater market share, offer a broader range ofymtscand have greater financial resources thanow8aime financial institutions operate in a
more favorable regulatory environment and/or hawpipetary products and distribution channels whithy provide certain competitive
advantages to them and their investment productsc@mpetitors may also adopt products, servicestrategies similar to ours, including the
use of fundamentally-weighted indexes. In additmrer time certain sectors of the financial servicelustry have become considerably more
concentrated, as financial institutions involveaihroad range of financial services have beenigtjby or merged into other firms. This
convergence could result in our competitors gaimgjreater resources and we may experience pressui@s pricing and market share as a
result of these factors and as some of our conmpetieek to increase market share by reducingspie believe that competition within the
ETF industry will continue to increase as moreitiadal asset management companies become ETF@sons

Competitive pressures could reduce revenue andiproérgins.

The ETF industry is becoming significantly more qetitive as existing players compete on price awodden their suite of products to
different strategies, in some cases, similar t@.ofitthough the ETF industry currently has a higihemier to entry as a result of the need for
ETF sponsors to obtain exemptive relief from th&€SE order to operate ETFs, traditional asset marsgagnany of whom are much larger than
us, have started to enter the ETF space. For egaimphugust 2013, Charles Schwab & Co. launchedESiFs using the Russell fundament
weighted indexes with fees generally equivalenhwitr comparable ETFs. In September 2013, iShdeekd registration statement for three
currency hedged equity ETFs including a Japan teedgaity ETF. Those ETFs launched in February 2€itH fees generally equivalent with
comparable ETFs. In addition, iShares launchedatifig rate treasury ETF in February 2014, on #mesday as we launched our similar ETF
however, iShares waived fees for one year whileidenot. Also, Deutsche Bank renamed five of tlegjuity ETFs to stress their currency
hedging strategy and launched three additionakogsr hedged equity ETFs. We expect that additiooadpanies, both new and traditional
asset managers, will continue to enter the ETFespac

In addition, in 2008, the SEC proposed a rule fifatlopted, would eliminate the need to obtainneptve relief, thereby lowering the
barrier to entry. This proposed rule was never getbpnd there are indications that a new rule akltimg the need for exemptive relief coulc
proposed in 2014. In March 2010, the SEC annouitcgduld defer approval of applications for exemptrelief for ETFs that make
significant use of derivatives pending a reviewthy SEC of the use of derivatives by mutual fulkdgl's and other investment companies.
This moratorium was lifted in December 2012 and maye served in the past to prevent potential ctitope from directly competing with
certain of our products. Now that the moratoriuma baen lifted we may face increased competitionvemdnay be forced to compete
increasingly on the basis of price, we may notHidle to maintain our current fee structure. Fee cédns on existing or future new products
could cause our revenue and profit margins to decli

Our revenue could be adversely affected if the Vdisd ree Trust determines that the advisory fees weeive from the WisdomTree ETFs
should be reducec

Our advisory agreements with the WisdomTree Traodtthe fees we collect from the WisdomTree ETFssalgect to review and
approval by the Independent Trustees of the WisdemTrust. The advisory agreements are subjeaittalireview and approval. After the
initial two-year term of the agreement for each Effieé continuation of such agreement must be readeand approved at least annually by a
majority of the Independent Trustees. In deterngnimether to approve the agreements, the Indepeiidastees consider factors such as
(i) the nature and quality of the services provitgdis, (ii) the fees charged by us and the coslgeofits realized by us in connection with
such services, as well as any ancillary or “fali>denefits from such services, (iii) the extenitbich economies of scale are shared with the
WisdomTree ETFs, and (iv) the level of fees paidther similar funds. If the Independent Trusteetednine that the advisory fees we charge
to any particular fund are too high, we will needé¢duce our fees, which could adversely affectreuenue.
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We have contracted with a third party financial ietmediary that markets our investment portfolios liiatin America and this relationship
may not be available or profitable to us in the fue.

This third party intermediary generally offersétgents various investment products in additionatod in competition with, our investm
offerings. It would be difficult for us to acquice retain the management of those assets witheudghistance of the intermediary and we
cannot be assured that we will be able to mairttagnmarketing relationship.

Our risk management policies and procedures, andgh of our third party vendors upon which we refgay not be fully effective in
identifying or mitigating risk exposure, includingmployee misconduct. If our policies and procedudisnot adequately protect us from
exposure to these risks, we may incur losses thatilel adversely affect our financial condition, repation and market share.

We have developed risk management policies anceduyes and we continue to refine them as we corwudiusiness. Many of our
procedures involve oversight of third party vendbiat provide us with critical services such adfpio management, custody and fund
accounting and administration, and index calcutasiervices. Our policies and procedures to identifgnitor and manage risks may not be
fully effective in mitigating our risk exposure. Maver, we are subject to the risks of errors arstomduct by our employees, including fraud
and non-compliance with policies. These risks dffecdlt to detect in advance and deter, and cdwddm our business, results of operations or
financial condition. Although we maintain insurareoed use other traditional risk-shifting tools, Isas third party indemnification, in order to
manage certain exposures, they are subject to ®uofisas deductibles, coinsurance, limits and peliclusions, as well as risk of counterpi
denial of coverage, default or insolvency. If oofigies and procedures do not adequately protefrbus exposure and our exposure is not
adequately covered by insurance or other riskisgitbols, we may incur losses that would adveraéfgct our financial condition and could
cause a reduction in our revenue as WisdomTreedia@Feholders shift their investments to the praglatbur competitors.

Compliance with extensive, complex and changing ukgion imposes significant financial and strategimosts on our business, and non-
compliance could result in fines and penalties.

Our business is subject to extensive regulatiomuofbusiness and operations. Our subsidiary, WiddtemAsset Management, Inc., or
“WTAM,” is a registered investment adviser andusject to oversight by the SEC pursuant to its latguy authority under the Investment
Advisers Act. We also must comply with certain negonents under the Investment Company Act, witipeesto the WisdomTree ETFs for
which WTAM acts as investment adviser. WTAM is aéssmember of the National Futures Association, BANand registered as a Commo
Pool Operator for certain of our ETFs. As a ComrtyoBool Operator we are subject to oversight byNRé& and the Commaodities Futures
Trading Commission pursuant to regulatory autharitgder the Commodities Exchange Act. In additibe, ¢ontent and use of our marketing
and sales materials and of our sales force is sutgjghe regulatory authority of FINRA. To a lesegtent, we are also subject to foreign laws
and regulatory authorities with respect to operati@spects of our funds that invest in securiifassuers in foreign countries and in the sales
of our funds in foreign jurisdictions. Each of ttegulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us hasuletpry powers dealing with many aspects of
our business, including the authority to grant,,andpecific circumstances to cancel, permisstorarry on particular businesses. Our failure
to comply with applicable laws or regulations corddult in fines, censure, suspensions of persamaher sanctions, including revocation of
our registration as an investment adviser. Evansiinction imposed against us or our personneiddl 1 monetary amount, the adverse
publicity arising from the imposition of sanctioagainst us by regulators could harm our reputatimhthus result in redemptions from our
ETFs and impede our ability to retain WisdomTred-Ehareholders and develop new WisdomTree ETF Isblalers, all of which may reduce
our revenue.

We face the risk of significant intervention by uéafory authorities, including extended investigatactivity, adoption of costly or
restrictive new regulations and judicial or admirsive proceedings that may result in substapgaalties. Among other things, we could be
fined or be prohibited from engaging in some of business activities. The requirements imposedunyegulators are designed to ensure the
integrity of the financial markets and to protecisddmTree ETF shareholders and our advisory cliemts are not designed to protect our
stockholders. Consequently, these regulations aieve to limit our activities, including throughislomTree ETF shareholder protection and
market conduct requirements.

In addition, the regulatory environment in which @erate is subject to modifications and furthgutation. Recently, concerns have
been raised about ETF’s possible contribution teketavolatility as well as the disclosure requirernseapplicable to certain types of more
complex ETFs. New laws or regulations, or changahe enforcement of existing laws or regulati@apglicable to us and our clients also may
adversely affect our business, and our abilityurection in this environment will depend on our &pito
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constantly monitor and react to these changes. IR&gy uncertainty continues to surround the Dodaknk Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010, which represented a comgmelve overhaul of the financial services regujatvironment and requires federal
agencies to implement numerous new rules, whicdddpted, may impose additional regulatory bur@emsexpenses on our business.
Compliance with new laws and regulations may reasulicreased compliance costs and expenses.

Specific regulatory changes also may have a dinggaict on our revenue. In addition to regulatomusny and potential fines and
sanctions, regulators continue to examine diffeaspiects of the asset management industry. Nevateguor judicial interpretations regard
the annual approval process for investment adviagrgements may result in the reduction of feegutitese agreements, which would me
reduction in our revenue.

Damage to our reputation could adversely affect dursiness

We believe we have developed a strong brand aedwation for innovative, thoughtful products, featole long-term investment
performance and excellent client services. The Wfistiree name and brand is a valuable asset andaangge to it could hamper our ability to
maintain and grow our AUM and attract and retairpkayees, thereby having a material adverse effectus revenue. Risks to our reputation
may range from regulatory issues to unsubstantatedsations. Managing such matters may be expertsive-consuming and difficult.

Abnormally wide bid/ask spreads and market disrgpis that halt or disrupt trading or create extremelatility could undermine investo
confidence in the ETF investment structure and litihvestor acceptance of ETFs.

The shares of the WisdomTree ETFs, like the shafral ETFs, trade on exchanges in market transastihat generally approximate the
value of the underlying portfolio of securities thély the particular ETF. Trading involves risksliming the potential lack of an active market
for fund shares, abnormally wide bid/ask spreduks difference between the prices at which shares &TF can be bought and sold) that can
exist for a variety of reasons and losses fromitigadrhese risks can be exacerbated during pevibes there is low demand for an ETF, wl
the markets in the underlying investments are dosten markets conditions are extremely volatilerben trading is disrupted. This could
result in limited growth or a reduction in the oa#ETF market and result in our revenue not grgnas rapidly as it has in the recent past or
even in a reduction of revenue.

We have experienced significant growth in recentiyg and if we were unable to manage this growtledtuld have a material adverse effect
on our business.

We have experienced significant growth in receatrgewhich has placed increased demands on ourgearent and other resources and
will continue to do so in the future. We may notaixe to maintain or accelerate our current grawth, manage our expanding operations
effectively or achieve planned growth on a timelymfitable basis. Managing our growth effectiveliyl involve, among other things:

» continuing to retain, motivate and manage our exgstmployees and attract and integrate new empf

» developing, implementing and improving our @iEmnal, financial, accounting, reporting and otimernal systems and controls on
a timely basis; an

e maintaining and developing our various supfunttions including human resources, informatishtelogy, legal and corporate
communications

If we are unable to manage our growth effectiviiigre could be a material adverse effect on odityatd maintain or increase revenue
and profitability.

Continued growth will require continued investmanpersonnel, information technology infrastructarel marketing activities, as well
as further development and implementation of fim@noperational and compliance systems and cantWge may not be successful in
implementing all of the processes that are necgssaupport our growth. Unless our growth resinltan increase in our revenue that is at |
proportionate to the increase in our costs assatiatth this growth, our gross margins and ourreiforofitability will be adversely affected.

Our growth strategy also involves, among othergbjmiversifying our product line to include mor€Hs in non-equity asset classes,
including fixed income and alternative investmdnategies. This will require us to develop produntareas in which we do not have
significant prior experience. We may not be sudcéés developing new products and if developed Enohched, we may not be successful in
marketing these new products.
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We have recently expanded our business into thefinational marketplace which increases our operata, regulatory and other risks.

In January 2014, we announced that we intend tarexnto Europe through the acquisition of a 75%rast in U.K.based ETP provid
Boost. We expect to form a new entity WisdomTreeoRa to offer both WisdomTree and Boost productsiamest $20 million in working
capital over a four year period to fund the build-of a local European platform. Subject to requigtapproval and other customary closing
conditions, the transaction is expected to clogherfirst half of 2014. As a result of such expanswe expect to face increased operational,
regulatory, compliance, reputational and foreigohange rate risks. The failure of our compliancg iaternal control systems to properly
mitigate such additional risks, or of our operatimigastructure to support such expansion, cousdlten operational failures and regulatory
fines or sanctions. If our international produatsl @perations experience any negative resultseoparceived negatively in ndn-S. markets,
may also harm our reputation in other marketspiticlg the U.S. market. Our operations in the Euaogeconomic Area will be subject to
increased compliance, disclosure and other obtigatas a result of our becoming subject to Eurofiwashregulation. We will incur additional
costs to satisfy the requirements of the EuropeginrDirective on UCITS and the Alternative Investmh Fund Managers Directive.

This expansion will require us to incur a numbeupffront expenses, including those associated @lithining regulatory approvals, as
well as additional ongoing expenses, including ¢hassociated with leases, the employment of additisupport staff and regulatory
compliance. Operating our business in hdf-. markets may be more expensive than in theedr8tates. To the extent that our revenues ¢
increase to the same degree our expenses increaseriection with our expansion outside the Un8ates, our profitability could be
adversely affected. Expanding our business inte@ markets may also place significant demandsusrexisting infrastructure and
employees.

Future strategic transactions, including businessmbinations, mergers and acquisitions, may occuraaty time, be significant in size
relative to our assets and operations, result igrsficant changes in our business and materially dadversely affect our stock price.
Additionally, we may expend significant financialnanagement time and other resources without the sammation of such transactions ¢
the realization of the anticipated benefits.

We believe attractive opportunities for strategassactions exist, some of which may be materialiooperations and financial condit
if consummated. We have engaged in the past aretetgpcontinue to engage in the future in strateigcussions that we believe may enable
us to strengthen our business, expand and divergifyproduct offering, increase our AUM or entdbinew markets. Such transactions may
result in our issuing a significant amount of oamenon stock or other security that could be dikitio our stockholders, result in substantial
borrowings, result in changes in our board compmsiénd/or management team, constitute a changentfol of our Company, lead to
significant changes in our product offering, busgeperations and earning and risk profiles, ane&ult in a decline in the price of our
common stock.

Even if consummated, such transactions may invelraerous risks, including, among others:

» failure to achieve financial, operating or businesgctives

» failure to integrate successfully and in a timelgrmer any operations, products, services or teolggyg
» diversion of the attention of management and gbleesonnel

» failure to obtain necessary regulatory, stockhotitesther approvals

» failure to retain personne

» failure to obtain any necessary financing on aat@ptterms or at al

» unforeseen liabilities or expens:

» failure of counterparties to indemnify us agaimsbilities arising from such transactiol

» potential loss of, or harm to, our relationswigh our and the counterparties’ employees, custsrand suppliers as a result of
integration of new businesse

e accounting charge
» unfavorable market conditions that could negativelgact the acquired or combined businesses

» legal proceedings, including lawsuits broughstockholders of us or the counterparties whicly negult in expenses and/or have a
material adverse effect on our busing
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We could be prevented from, or significantly deldy®, achieving our strategic goals if we are uaablsuccessfully integrate acquired
businesses. Our ability to complete future stratéginsactions depends upon a number of factotsathanot entirely within our control,
including our ability to identify suitable merger @acquisition candidates, negotiate acceptableseconclude satisfactory agreements and
secure financing. Our failure to complete stratégiasactions or to integrate and manage acquiredrabined businesses successfully could
materially and adversely affect our business, tesfloperations and financial conditions.

Our ability to operate effectively could be impadré we fail to retain or recruit key personnel.

The success of our business and the implementatioar growth strategy are highly dependent onatility to attract, retain and
motivate highly skilled, and sometimes highly spézed, employees, including in particular, openasi, product development, research and
sales personnel. Our employees may voluntarilyiteata their employment at any time. The marketHiese individuals is extremely
competitive and is likely to become more so astamthl investment management firms enter the ETistry. Our compensation methods 1
not enable us to recruit and retain required persbin particular, our use of equity grants asmponent of total employee compensation |
be ineffective if the market price of our commoaockt declines. Also, we may need to increase congtiemslevels, which would decrease our
net income or increase our losses. If we are urtabletain and attract key personnel, it could hevedverse effect on our business, results o
operations and financial condition.

Changes in U.S. federal income tax law could makere of our products less attractive to investors.

Many of the WisdomTree ETFs seek to obtain thestiment return achieved by our proprietary indekes weigh index components
based upon dividends. Even with the recent increatsx rates applicable to dividends, corporatedéinds continue to enjoy favorable tax
treatment under current U.S. federal income tax lathe tax rates imposed on dividends were ingeeait may make these WisdomTree ETF
less attractive to investors.

Our expenses are subject to fluctuations that coub@terially affect our operating results.

Our results of operations are dependent in patherevel of our expenses, which can vary from tgrao quarter. Our expenses may fluctuate
primarily as a result of discretionary spending]uning marketing, advertising and sales expensemeur to support our growth initiatives.
Accordingly, our results of operation may vary frgomarter to quarter.

Any significant limitation, or failure of our techmlogy systems, or of our third party vend’ technology systems, or any security breach of
our information and cyber security infrastructuresoftware applications, technology or other systetimgt are critical to our operations coul
interrupt or damage our operations and result in tegial financial loss, regulatory violations, repational harm or legal liability.

We are dependent upon the effectiveness of our amghpur vendorsinformation security policies, procedures and céjjigs to protec
the technology systems used to operate our busames® protect the data that reside on or arenéted through them. Although we and our
third party vendors take protective measures targeiaformation, our and our vendors’ technologgteyns may still be vulnerable to
unauthorized access, computer viruses or othertgteait could result in inaccuracies in our infotimra or system disruptions or failures, wt
could materially interrupt or damage our operatidnsddition, technology is subject to rapid chaagd we cannot guarantee that our
competitors may not implement more advanced tedgyogplatforms for their products, which could atfear business. Any inaccuracies,
delays, system failures or breaches, or advancenretgchnology, and the cost necessary to adtiress, could subject us to client
dissatisfaction and losses or result in materedricial loss, regulatory violations, reputationairh or legal liability, which, in turn, could cat
a decline in our earnings or stock price.

We may from time to time in the future be involvedlegal proceedings that could require significamianagement time and attention,
possibly resulting in significant expense or in amfavorable outcome, which could have a materiahadse effect on our business, financ
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

From time to time, we may be subject to litigatibnconnection with any litigation in which we arvolved, we may be forced to incur
costs and expenses in connection with defendingebegs or in connection with the payment of anyleseent or judgment or compliance with
any injunctions in connection therewith if theraisunfavorable outcome. The expense of defendiggtion may be significant. The amount
of time to resolve lawsuits is unpredictable anfibdding ourselves may divert management’s atterftimm the day-to-day operations of our
business, which could adversely affect our busimessilts of operations, financial condition andlcfiows. In addition, an unfavorable
outcome in any such litigation could have a matexdwerse effect on our business, results of ofpergtfinancial condition and cash flows.
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Catastrophic and unpredictable events could haveaterial adverse effect on our business.

A terrorist attack, war, power failure, cyber-aktagatural disaster or other catastrophic or uriptable event could adversely affect our
revenue, expenses and operating results by: iptémgiour normal business operations; inflictingpdoyee casualties, including loss of our |
employees; requiring substantial expenditures apérmses to repair, replace and restore normal éssioperations; and reducing investor
confidence. We have a disaster recovery plan toegdctertain contingencies, but this plan may eaufficient in responding or ameliorating
the effects of all disaster scenarios. Similathgse types of events could also affect the ahifithe third party vendors that we rely upon to
conduct our business, including parties that previd with sub-advisory portfolio management ses/mestodial, fund accounting and
administration services, or index calculation seesj to continue to provide these necessary sertoces, even though they may also have
disaster recovery plans to address these contirggeritwe or our third party vendors are unablesgpond adequately or in a timely manner,
this failure may result in a loss of revenue andiioreased expenses, either of which would havatenal adverse effect on our operating
results.

A change of control of our Company would automatigaterminate our investment management agreemenmgigting to the WisdomTre:
ETFs unless the Board of Trustees of the WisdomTiigest and shareholders of the WisdomTree ETFs wbte continue the agreements.
change in control could occur if a third party wert® acquire a controlling interest in our Company.

Under the Investment Company Act, an investmentagament agreement with a fund must provide faautematic termination in the
event of its assignment. The fund’s board must t@@ontinue such an agreement following any swsigament and the shareholders of the
WisdomTree ETFs must approve the assignment. Téteof@btaining such shareholder approval can dpafgiant and which ordinarily would
be borne by us. Similarly, under the Investmentiders Act, a client’s investment management agreémeay not be “assigned” by the
investment adviser without the client’s consent.

An investment management agreement is considemer lnoth acts to be assigned to another party wheamtrolling block of the
adviser’s securities is transferred. Under botbk,abere is a presumption that a stockholder beia#fi owning 25% or more of an adviser’s
voting stock controls the adviser and conversedioakholder beneficially owning less than 25% issomed not to control the adviser. In our
case, an assignment of our investment managemeggragnts may occur if a third party were to acqaioentrolling interest in our Company.
We cannot be certain that the Trustees of the Wiiddee ETFs would consent to assignments of oursinvent management agreements or
approve new agreements with us if a change of eboticurs. And even if such approval were obtaiaggroval from the shareholders of the
WisdomTree ETFs would be required to be obtainadh spproval could not be guaranteed and eventdirodd, likely would result in
significant expense. This restriction may discoarpgtential purchasers from acquiring a controllirtgrest in our Company.

We may from time to time be subject to claims dFiimgement of third party intellectual property rigts, which could harm our business.

Third parties may assert against us alleged pateptright, trademark or other intellectual progeights to intellectual property that is
important to our business. Any claims that our pigid or processes infringe the intellectual prgpegdhts of others, regardless of the merit or
resolution of such claims, could cause us to isggmificant costs in responding to, defending asblving such claims, and may divert the
efforts and attention of our management from owiress. As a result of such intellectual properfsingement claims, we could be requirec
otherwise decide that it is appropriate to:

e pay third party infringement claim
« discontinue selling the particular funds subjednfangement claims
» discontinue using the processes subject to infrvegde claims

» develop other intellectual property or produwnt$ subject to infringement claims, which couldtinee-consuming and costly or may
not be possible; ¢

* license the intellectual property from the dhirarty claiming infringement, which license may he available on commercially
reasonable term
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The occurrence of any of the foregoing could reisulinexpected expenses, reduce our revenue awedsatiy affect our business and
financial results.

We have been issued a patent and have applied floeropatents, but additional patents may not beuisd to us and we may not be able to
enforce or protect our patents and other intelleatiproperty rights, which may harm our ability tooenpete and harm our business.

Although we have a patent and have applied forrgihtents relating to our index methodology andaperation of our ETFs, these other
patents may not be issued to us. In addition, éisaued, our ability to enforce our patents attteointellectual property rights is subject to
general litigation risks. While we have been cormgetwithout the benefit of these patents beingassif they are not issued or we cannot
successfully enforce them, we may lose the beo&étfuture competitive advantage that they wouleowise provide to us. If we seek to
enforce our rights, we could be subject to claihat the intellectual property right is invalid sratherwise not enforceable. Furthermore, our
assertion of intellectual property rights coulduled the other party seeking to assert allegeellectual property rights of its own or assert
other claims against us, which could harm our lssnlf we are not ultimately successful in defegdiurselves against these claims in
litigation, we may be subject to the risks desatibethe immediately preceding risk factor entitt®de may from time to time be subject to
claims of infringement of third party intellectyaioperty rights, which could harm our business.”

Risks Relating to our Common Stock
The market price of our shares may fluctuate sigoéntly, and you could lose all or part of your iegtment.

The market price of our common stock may fluctweaitgely, depending upon many factors, some of whigty be beyond our control,
including:

» decreases in our AUN

e variations in our quarterly operating resu

» differences between our actual financial operatesylts and those expected by investors and asg
* publication of research reports about us or thestment management indust

» changes in expectations concerning our futim@ntial performance and the future performandh@fETF industry and the asset
management industry in general, including finane&timates and recommendations by securities d8g

* our strategic moves and those of our competitaicsh 8is acquisitions or consolidatio

« changes in the regulatory framework of the Eidustry and the asset management industry in geand regulatory action,
including action by the SEC to lessen the reguwatequirements or shortening the process to obajalatory relief under the
Investment Company Act that is necessary to beami&TF sponso

e changes in general economic or market conditiomg

« realization of any other of the risks describea@wlsere in this sectiol

In addition, stock markets in general have expegédnvolatility that has often been unrelated todperating performance of a particular
company. These broad market fluctuations may adiyeadfect the trading price of our common stockrtRermore, in the past, market
fluctuations and price declines in a companstock have led to securities class action litbgest or other derivative stockholder lawsuits.u€ls
a suit were to arise, it could cause substantistiscio us and divert our resources regardlessofibcome.

Future sales of our common stock in the public matkby management or our large stockholders could/ém our stock price.

As of December 31, 2013, our largest stockholdéro(gerves on our Board of Directors), together withother members of our Board
of Directors and our executive officers, benefigimwned 23.1% of our outstanding common stockuwif existing stockholders sell, or indic.
an intent to sell, substantial amounts of our comstock in the public market, the trading priceoof common stock may decline significan
We cannot predict the effect, if any, that futuablic sales of these shares or the availabilitthege shares for sale will have on the market
price of our common stock.
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If equity research analysts issue unfavorable commtegy or downgrade our common stock, the price eff@ommon stock could decline

The trading market for our common stock reliesarnt pn the research and reports that equity relsearalysts publish about us and our
business. We do not control the opinions of thesdyats. The price and trading volume of our commstmek could decline if one or more
equity analysts downgrade our common stock orafyasts issue other unfavorable commentary or ceabkshing reports about us or our
business.

Future issuance of our common stock could lower agtock price and dilute the interests of existingaskholders.

We may issue additional shares of our common stottke future, either in connection with an acdiosi or for other business reasons.
The issuance of a substantial amount of commork stoald have the effect of substantially dilutimg interests of our current stockholders. Ir
addition, the sale of a substantial amount of comstock in the public market, either in the iniisduance or in a subsequent resale by the
target company in an acquisition which receivechstmmmon stock as consideration or by investors adguired such common stock in a
private placement could have a material advergeedin the market price of our common stock.

The members of our Board of Directors, their affities and our executive officers, as stockholdeem exert significant influence over our
Company.

As of December 31, 2013, the members of our BoaRirectors and our executive officers, as stockleas, collectively beneficially
owned approximately 23.1% of our outstanding comstonk. As a result of this ownership, they haweabhility to significantly influence all
matters requiring approval by stockholders of oampany, including the election of directors. Thisicentration of ownership also may have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change intaa of our Company that may be favored by othecléholders. This could prevent
transactions in which stockholders might otherweseive a premium for their shares over currenketarices.

Although our directors and officers have a dutyoyhlty to us under Delaware law and our certigcat incorporation, transactions that
we enter into in which a director or officer hasamflict of interest are generally permissible @og as (i) the material facts relating to the
director’s or officer’s relationship or interesttasthe transaction are disclosed to our Boardioéd@ors and a majority of our disinterested
directors, or a committee consisting solely ofrtisiested directors, approves the transactiorth@imaterial facts relating to the director’s or
officer’s relationship or interest as to the trarigm are disclosed to our stockholders and a ritgjof our disinterested stockholders approves
the transaction, or (iii) the transaction is othisenfair to us. Under our certificate of incorpdvat representatives of our stockholders are not
required to offer to us any transaction opportunityvhich they become aware and could take any spplortunity for themselves or offer it to
other companies in which they have an investmeriéss such opportunity is expressly offered to tisetely in their capacity as a director of
ours. The listing requirements of the NASDAQ GloBalect Market, upon which our common stock igtisalso require that certain
transactions in which a director or officer hasaftict of interest must be considered and apprdwedur Audit Committee, which consists
solely of independent directors.

A provision in our certificate of incorporation antby-laws may prevent or delay an acquisition of our @pany, which could decrease the
market value of our common stock.

Provisions of Delaware law, our certificate of inporation and our by-laws may discourage, delagrevent a merger, acquisition or
other change in control that stockholders may aerdiavorable. These provisions may also prevedetay attempts by stockholders to rep
or remove our current management or members oBoard of Directors. These provisions include:

» aclassified Board of Director

+ limitations on the removal of directol

« advance notice requirements for stockholder prdp@sa nominations

» the inability of stockholders to act by written eemt or to call special meeting
» the ability of our Board of Directors to make, alte repeal our k-laws; anc

» the authority of our Board of Directors to issuefprred stock with such terms as our Board of Dinescmay determine
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In addition, we are subject to the provisions ofte® 203 of the Delaware General Corporation LaWwich limits business combination
transactions with stockholders of 15% or more afautstanding voting stock that our Board of Dicgsthas not approved. These provisions
and other similar provisions make it more difficidt stockholders or potential acquirers to acquseavithout negotiation. These provisions
may apply even if some stockholders may considetrdmsaction beneficial to them.

As a result, these provisions could limit the pticat investors are willing to pay in the future thares of our common stock. These
provisions might also discourage a potential adtjioisproposal or tender offer, even if the acdiosi proposal or tender offer is at a premium
over the then current market price for our commtogls

We do not intend to pay dividends in the near term.

We have never paid dividends on our common stodkwancurrently intend to invest our available cfistv in the near term in strategic
growth initiatives, re-acquire shares of our comrmatotk issued to our employees as incentive congpiensor expand our business through
strategic acquisitions. Thus, the shares of comsbtock may not realize a return in the form of dénds in the near term. Investors who
anticipate the need for immediate dividends fromreh of common stock should refrain from purchasmgcommon stock. In addition, our
Board of Directors is authorized, without stocktesldpproval, to issue preferred stock with sucim$eais our Board of Directors may, in its
discretion, determine. Our Board of Directors cotit@refore, issue preferred stock with dividemghts superior to that of the common stock,
which could also limit the payment of dividendstbe common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located at 245KPAve, New York, New York 10167. We occupy approgitely 38,000 square feet of
office space under a lease that expires in Jul@20& believe that the space we lease is suffit@emeet our term needs until the expiratio
the lease.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As an investment adviser, we may be subject tdrreueviews and inspections by the SEC, as wddga proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business. We are not currerahypo any litigation or other legal proceedinbattare expected to have a material impact ¢
our business, financial position, results of operet or cash flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEMS5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globaé8eMarket under the symbol “WETF.” The followirgpte sets forth the intra-
day high and low sale prices per share as repbsteéde NASDAQ Global Select Market.

Period High Low
Fiscal 2013

Quarter ended December 31, 2( $18.0¢ $10.6:
Quarter ended September 30, 2| $13.8: $10.77
Quarter ended June 30, 2C $14.1: $ 9.8
Quarter ended March 31, 20 $10.8¢ $ 6.2C
Fiscal 2012

Quarter ended December 31, 2( $ 7.3¢ $ 5.71
Quarter ended September 30, 2! $ 7.2¢€ $ 6.17
Quarter ended June 30, 2C $ 8.7¢ $ 6.2¢
Quarter ended March 31, 20 $ 8.9t $ 5.37

As of December 31, 2013, there were 137 holdersaurd of shares of our common stock and we beliesee were approximately
17,500 beneficial owners of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid dividends on oumeomstock. We do not anticipate paying any divideoad our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We currently intend to retdliaaailable funds and any future earnings to ftimeldevelopment and growth of our business
Any future determination to declare dividends Wi subject to the discretion of our Board of Dioestand will depend on various factors,
including applicable laws, our results of operagidimancial condition, future prospects and arheofactors deemed relevant by our Board of
Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

The table below sets forth information with respgecshares of common stock that may be issued thdegLompany’s equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2013. Infiismés included for equity compensation plans appd by our stockholders and equity
compensation plans not approved by our stockhalders

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available
Weighted-average for future issuance
to be issued upon exercise price of under equity
exercise of outstanding options compensation plans
outstanding options (excluding securities
warrants and rights reflected in column (a)
warrants and rights
Plan category (@) () (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsl
(1) 4,209,69. $ 1.91 3,519,91
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders(2) 3,635,001 $ 0.57 631,86!
Total 7,844,69. $ 1.2¢ 4,151,78.

(1) Includes securities issuable upon exercisautdtanding options, warrants and rights that wesaad pursuant to the Company’s 1993
Stock Option Plan, 1996 Performance Equity Pla@0Z2®erformance Equity Plan and 2005 Performancé&yERLan.
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(2) Our non-plan options are similar to optionsngeal under our equity compensation plans and giyerare granted outside of these plans
when insufficient shares were available for gramder our plans. These options provide the hold#r thie right to purchase a certain
number of shares of our common stock at a predétethiixed price for a period of not more than yesars. All of the non-plan options
were granted to directors, employees or adviseositd3oard of Directors and the exercise price determined to be not less than the
market value of our common stock on the date afity

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information with regpéo purchases made by or on behalf of the Compaayy “affiliated purchaser” of
shares of the Company’s common stock.

(in thousands, except share and per share amc
Total Number of

Shares Purchased ¢ Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares tha
Average Part of Publicly May Yet be
Price Paic Announced Plans o Purchased Under th
Total Number of
Shares Purchased (: Per Share Programs Plans or Programs

October 1, 2013 to October 31, 201 18,48¢ $ 10.8¢ — —
November 1, 2013 to November 30, 20 — — — —
December 1, 2013 to December 31, 20 — — — —

(1) Total number of shares purchased reflects shaitbheld pursuant to the terms of awards gratdesmployees towards the employee’s
tax withholding obligations that occur upon vestangl release of the restricted shares. The valtieea$hares withheld is based upon the
volume weighted average price of the common staocthe date of vesting. During the three months éridiecember 31, 2013, the
Company repurchased 18,485 shares of Company witidkeld pursuant to the terms of awards grantezhiployees towards tax
withholding obligations for an aggregate price 80$,117 with an average price per share of $1(
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the selected consolidated finanizitd presented below in conjunction with the sactintitied “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations” in this Report and our ctidated financial statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in this Repor. Sdlected consolidated statements of operatidaspdasented below under the heading
“Consolidated Statements of Operations Data” ferytbars ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 201ihasélected consolidated balance
sheet data presented below under the heading “Gdateml Balance Sheet Datas of December 31, 2012 and 2013 have been ddrwadoul
audited consolidated financial statements incluglesdwhere in this Report. The selected consolidi@tedcial data presented below under the
headings “Consolidated Statements of Operationa’Dat the years ended December 31, 2009 and 20d @ader “Consolidated Balance
Sheet Data” as of December 31, 2009, 2010 and B&lé been derived from our consolidated financ¢a&ksnents not included in this Report.
The historical results presented below are notssarédy indicative of the financial results to bgected for future periods.

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(in thousands, except per share d

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenues:
ETF advisory fee $ 20,81 $ 40,567 $ 64,36¢ $ 84,02« $148,59:
Other income 1,28: 1,04¢ 794 774 874
Total revenue 22,09t 41,61: 65,16( 84,79¢ 149,46¢
Expenses:
Compensation and benef 18,94: 19,19: 19,63« 23,23: 36,21(
Fund management and administral 13,381 14,28¢ 19,88: 23,02( 35,07¢
Marketing and advertisin 2,76 3,721 447" 5,36: 8,30¢
Sales and business developrr 2,49t 2,73( 3,60: 3,58¢ 6,47¢
Professional and consulting fe 1,78( 3,77¢ 4,30 4,60z 2,74¢
Occupancy, communications and equipn 1,08 1,11¢ 1,125 1,41¢ 2,78¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 36C 314 267 307 43¢
Third party sharing arrangemel 89 2,29¢ 5,651 5,46¢ 1,36¢
Other 2,42( 1,72¢ 2,24: 2,97¢ 4,52:¢
ETF shareholder prox — — — 3,26¢ —
Litigation, net — — 15C 17¢€ —
Exchange listing and offerir — — 72¢ 353 —
Total expense 43,32: 49,16 62,06¢ 73,76¢ 97,93:
Income/(loss) before provision for income ta (21,229 (7,549 3,09 11,03( 51,53}
Provision for income taxe — — — — —
Tax benefit — — — — —
Net income/(loss) $(21,22¢) $ (7,549 $ 3,092 $ 11,03C $ 51,53
Net income/(loss) per sh—basic $ (02) $ (00O) $ 00z $ 00 $ 041
Net income/(loss) per sh—diluted $ (02) $ (00O7) $ 00z $ o008 $ 0.37
Weighted average common sh—nbasic: 103,39° 111,98: 114,13. 122,13t 126,65:
Weighted average common sh—diluted: 103,39° 111,98: 135,53¢ 137,96¢ 139,79°
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 11,47¢ $ 14,231  $ 25,63( $ 41,24t $104,31¢
Total asset $ 25,700  $ 29,14: $ 42,567 $ 63,428 $141,79:
Total liabilities $ 9,67t $ 11,907 $ 16,71« $ 12,36¢ $ 32,76
Stockholder’ equity $ 16,02¢ $ 17,23t $ 25,85 $ 51,06( $109,02¢
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad together with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes andther financial information included elsewhere fiistReport. In addition to historici
consolidated financial information, the followingsdussion contains forward-looking statements th#lect our plans, estimates and beliefs.
Our actual results could differ materially from $@discussed in the forwaldeking statements. Factors that could cause otrimute to thes
differences include those discussed below. For e momplete description of the risks noted abowt @her risks that could cause our actual
results to materially differ from our current expa&tions, please see the Item 1A. “Risk Factorsthi$ Report. We assume no obligation to
update or revise publicly any forward-looking statnts, whether as a result of new information,reuvents or otherwise, unless required by
law.

Executive Summary

We were the fifth largest sponsor of ETFs in thététhStates based on AUM, with AUM of $34.9 billias of December 31, 2013. An
ETF is an investment fund that holds securitiehsasequities or bonds and/or other assets sudbramtives or commodities and that
generally trades at approximately the same pridbeaset asset value of its underlying componewns the course of the trading day. ETFs
offer exposure to a wide variety of investment tespincluding domestic, international and globalites, fixed income securities, currencies
or commodities, as well as securities in specifiuistries and countries. At December 31, 2013 ierexd a comprehensive family of 61 ETFs,
which includes 42 international and domestic egHit{s, 11 fixed income ETFs, six currency ETFs @vmlalternative strategy ETFs.

Through our operating subsidiary, we provide inresit advisory and other management services td/iedomTree ETFs. In exchange
for providing these services, we receive adviseg/revenues based on a percentage of the ETFgawia#dy net AUM. Our expenses are
predominantly related to selling, operating andketing our ETFs. We have contracted with third iearto provide certain operational servi
for the ETFs.

We distribute our ETFs through all major channethiw the asset management industry, including erage firms, registered investm
advisers, institutional investors, private wealthnagers and discount brokers. Our primary salestefére not directed towards the retail
segment but rather are directed towards financiav@stment advisers that act as intermediariésdsn the end-client and us.

Our revenues have increased substantially sindaunehed our ETFs in June 2006. Our revenues havengrom $65.2 million in 201
to $149.5 million in 2013 and our net income greanf $3.1 million to $51.5 million over the same ¢period.

Market Environment

The economic environment and markets have genénafiyoved over the last three years; however, thekats continue to experience
volatility due to a host of factors including, angoothers, underlying concerns regarding unemployraed the rate of economic recovery in
the United States, the stability of European ecdasrand their banks, and rising inflation and sosataility of growth in the emerging market
countries.
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The following charts reflect the returns of thedatdyased market capitalization weighted equity>edeon a quarterly and annual basis
over the last three years:

Ouarterly Equity Market Index Returns
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Source: Bloomberg.

Despite a robust equity market in 2013, flows itt® ETF industry in 2013 declined slightly from tbréor year as the chart below
reflects:

Annual ETFlndustry Inflows
(3 billions)
L4 1749
6.
11 iz 13

Source: Investment Company Institute.
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Our Results and 2013 Highlights

Our AUM has been growing and reaching record legatsh year from $12.2 billion at the end of 201$34d.9 billion at the end of 2013.
Our net inflows have also been increasing durirg same time period from $3.9 billion to $14.3ibill. We experienced a significant increase
in our net inflows in 2013 largely due to the sigscef our Japan hedged equity ETF (DXJ), which aetam for nearly 70% of our net inflows
in 2013. Political and economic policy changesapah, in particular the Japanese government’'sed&@simplement policies which have
decreased the value of the Yen, drove increasezsiarinterest in the region and in our Japanedgdtbequity ETF. We believe our increas
inflow levels and AUM is a result of our innovatipeoduct offerings, new product launches to furttigersify our product offering, as well as
a longer track record for the funds we launche2066 and 2007. Our growth strategy seeks to inereas market share of ETF industry
inflows through continued product diversificatiomdeexecution of our marketing and sales strategies.

Our strong operating results have translated ietond financial results. Between 2011 and 2013rexenues increased from $65.2
million to $149.5 million, expenses increased fi$62.1 million to $97.9 million and our net inconmeiieased from $3.1 million to $51.5
million. The record level of net inflows in 2013 sva significant contributor to our record resut2013.

2013 was also a year of investment in strategiovtiranitiatives to better position us for longerntesuccess:

* We launched 15 new ETFs in 2013 focused ornta&#@ing on macro-investment themes. We launchedixééd income ETFs
focused on a potential rise in interest rates;avathed five equity ETFs to take advantage ofiagig.S. dollar; we launched thr
dividend growth ETFs and one emerging markets aoesiETF. While these ETFs have not gathered s@anifiAUM to date, we
believe they better diversify us and have the pg@kto gather significant AUM in future yeal

*  We invested significantly in marketing and salelated initiatives to support our existing EBSsvell as new ETF launches. Our
marketing and sales related spending increasedd3®%.8 million over 2012 level

 We added 22 new employees to our company in 20&8pminantly in sales and other functions suppgrsiales including resear
and marketing

We believe these investments will pay off in thufe with faster growth rates.
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The following charts reflect certain key operatsigtistics of our business for the periods indidate

WisdomTree Year End ALUM WisdomTree ETF Net Inflows
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Competitive Environment

The ETF industry is becoming significantly more gquetitive as existing players compete on price aodden their suite of products to
different strategies that are, in some cases, airtolours. For example, in August 2013, Charldsv&b & Co. launched six ETFs using the
Russell fundamentally weighted indexes with feasegally equivalent with our comparable ETFs. Int8epber 2013, iShares filed a
registration statement for three currency hedgeite&TFs including a Japan hedged equity ETF. €H68Fs launched in February 2014 with
fees generally equivalent with comparable ETFsoABeutsche Bank renamed five of their equity Eft-stress their currency hedging
strategy and launched three additional currencgée@quity ETFs. More recently, iShares launchiolaging rate treasury ETF on the same
day as we launched our similar ETF; however, iShar@ved fees for one year while we did not.

We do not know what effect, if any, the launchlidse ETFs may have on our business. Within theigdwstry, being a first mover, or
one of the first providers of ETFs in a particudaset class, can be a significant advantage, d8shETF in a category to attract scale in AUM
and trading liquidity is generally viewed as thestnattractive ETF. We believe that our early lauaEETFs in a number of asset classes or
strategies, including fundamental weighting andenry hedging, positions us well to maintain ousifjon as one of the leaders of the ETF
industry.
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Transfer of Fund Administration Services

In September, 2013, we entered into an agreemémtStéte Street to transfer fund administration eugtody services from BNY
Mellon, effective April 1, 2014. As a result of shthange, we expect cost savings and an improvament gross margins.

New Office Facilities

In August 2013, we entered into a 16 year leasa foew 38,000 square feet office space in New Yotk as our prior lease expired in
January 2014. We increased the square footager afffice space in anticipation of future growth.dddition, the cost per square foot incre:
as compared to our then existing lease. We occup&dew space in January 2014; however, we indueeat expense for the new office space
beginning September 2013 in order to build outrtbe facility. As such, we incurred additional rempense of $0.9 million in 2013.

Recent Developmer

Since 2013, emerging markets have experiencedfisigmi weakness due to concerns over inflationsrsfainability of growth rates.
That weakness increased towards the second haffid and into 2014. From January 1, 2014 throudiaey 27, 2014, we experienced
overall net outflows of approximately $2.0 millipnimarily attributed to approximately $1.2 billiaf outflows from our emerging markets
equity, currency and fixed income ETFs. Offsettihig are net inflows of $1.0 billion, primarily mbur European focused equity ETFs as wel
as our Japan hedged equity ETF.

European Expansio

In January 2014, we announced our plans to expdadsiurope through a majority investment in U.Ksé&@ ETP provider Boost. We
expect to invest $20 million in working capitalftind the build-out of a local European fund platficeind operations to be led by Boost's
management team. Through this platform we inteddunch a select range of UCITS ETFs under the wisidee brand and continue to
manage and grow the Boost portfolio of short anedaged fully collateralized ETPs under the BooanH.

Under the terms of our agreement, we will own a ©8%e new WisdomTree Europe entity and existing® shareholders will own
25%. We will acquire remaining 25% ownership frdre existing Boost shareholders at the end of fears. The payout formula is based on
European AUM at the end of the four year period iartéed to our enterprise value over global AUMtet time of payout, and affected by
profitability of the European business. The paywilitbe in cash over two years. Subject to regulatpproval and other customary closing
conditions, the transaction is expected to clogbaerfirst half of 2014.

Components of Revenue
ETF advisory fees

The majority of our revenues are comprised of amyifees we earn from our ETFs. We earn this regdrased on a percentage of the
average daily value of AUM. Our average daily vadfiddUM is the average of the daily aggregate AUMbor ETFs as determined by the tl
current net asset value (as defined under Invest@empany Act Rule 2a-4) of such ETFs as of theelof business each day. Our fee
percentages for individual ETFs range from 0.28%.85%. A summary of the average advisory fee weezhand average AUM in 2013 by
asset class is as follows:

Average Average
Advisory Fee AUM

(in billions)

International Hedged Equity ETI 0.4<% $ 8.8
Emerging Markets Equity ETF 0.6€% $ 7.8
U.S. Equity ETF: 0.35% $ 5.8
International Developed Equity ETI 0.5€% $ 3.C
Fixed Income ETF 0.55% $ 2.3
Currency ETF: 0.4%% $ 0.7
Alternative Strategy ETF 0.94% $ 0.1
Total Average Advisory Fee and AU 0.52% $ 28F
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We determine the appropriate advisory fee to chmgeur ETFs based on the cost of operating eacticplar ETF taking into account
the types of securities the ETFs will hold, feasdtiparty service providers will charge us for agtérg the ETFs and our competitors’ fees for
similar ETFs. Generally, our actively managed E®ugh as our Alternative Strategy and Currency E&lesmg with our Emerging Markets
ETFs, are priced higher than our other index b&Sgeks as the former are more costly to operate.

Each of our ETFs has a fixed advisory fee. In otdéncrease the advisory fee, we would need tainlihe approval from a majority of
the ETF shareholders which may be difficult or possible to achieve. There may also be a significast in obtaining such ETF shareholder
approval. We do not need ETF shareholder approvalter our advisory fee.

Until the end of 2012, the advisory fee chargedoiar Currency ETFs and one Fixed Income ETF wagsuto a joint venture with
Mellon Capital and Dreyfus as discussed below. \Afk dretermined that we were the principal partidijantransactions under this
collaborative arrangement and as such, the advisergbove reflects the gross fee under this agraegt—see “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements” included in this Report.

Our ETF advisory fee revenue may fluctuate basegemeral stock market trends which include marlk#ie appreciation or
depreciation, currency fluctuations against the.ddlar and level of inflows or outflows from o&fTFs. In addition, these revenues may
fluctuate due to increased competition or a deteation by the independent trustees of the WisdomEEFs to terminate or significantly alter
the funds’ investment management agreements with us

Other income

Other income includes fees from licensing our iredeto third parties and interest income from inwngsbur corporate cash. These
revenues are immaterial to our financial results e do not expect them to be material in the tezan.

Components of Expenses

Our operating expenses consist primarily of costed to selling, operating and marketing our Eassvell as the infrastructure needed
to run our business.

Compensation and benefits

Employee compensation and benefits expenses aemsaqh when incurred and include salaries, incentwepensation, and related
benefit costs. Virtually all our employees receiiveentive compensation which is based on our opeyaesults as well as their individual
performance. Therefore, a portion of this expendlehactuate with our business results. In ordemttract and retain qualified personnel, we
must maintain competitive employee compensationkemefit plans. In normal circumstances, we exfreekperience a general rise in
employee compensation and benefit expenses ovéoribderm as we grow; however, the rate of ina@edwuld be less than the rate of
increase in our revenues.

Also included in compensation and benefits arescadated to equity awards granted to our employ@as executive management and
Board of Directors strongly believe that equity adgaare an important part of our employees’ ovaradhpensation package and that
incentivizing our employees with equity in the Canp aligns the interest of our employees with tfatur stockholders. We use the fair va
method in recording compensation expense for oéstristock and options grants. We ceased granfitigns in favor of restricted stock
beginning in 2012 and do not anticipate issuingomstin the future unless industry pay practicesnge. Under the fair value method,
compensation expense is measured at the granbasge on the estimated fair value of the awardsaretognized as an expense over the
vesting period.

We expect our total compensation and benefits esgeiill be between 20% to 23% of our revenues 120
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Fund management and administration

Fund management and administration expenses aem®&sg when incurred and are comprised of costsayéhird party service
providers to operate our ETFs. Under our advisgrg@ment with the WisdomTree Trust, the Trustees lapproved us and other third parties
to provide essential management and administratveces to the Trust and each ETF in exchangarfadvisory fee. The costs include:

» portfolio management of our ETFs (-advisory);
» fund accounting and administratic

» custodial services

e accounting and tax service

e printing and mailing of stockholder materic
* index calculation

» distribution fees

» legal and compliance service

e exchange listing fee:

e trustee fees and expens

» preparation of regulatory reports and filin
* insurance

e certain local income taxes; a

» other administrative service
We are not responsible for extraordinary expensages and certain other expenses.

BNY Mellon acts as sub-adviser for the majority &liFs and provide portfolio management, fund adstriation, custody and
accounting related services for all the WisdomTEg€s. The fees we pay BNY Mellon and other sub-s&hgi have minimums per fund which
range from $25,000 to $85,000 per year dependirth@mnature of the ETF. In addition, we pay addgidees ranging between 0.015% and
0.18% of average daily AUM at various breakpoinels. The fees we pay for accounting, tax, inddgutation and exchange listing are basec
on the number of ETFs we have. The remaining feedased on a combination of both AUM and numbéduids, or as incurred. As
discussed above, we will be changing our fund aghmation, custody and accounting related servicestate Street from BNY Mellon
beginning in April 2014.

Marketing and advertising
Marketing and advertising expenses are recordedhwinairred and include the following:
« advertising and product promotion campaigns thairdtiated to promote our existing and new ETFsvall as brand awarenes
» development and maintenance of our website;

» creation and preparation of marketing mater
Our discretionary advertising comprises the largestion of this expense and we expect these tosterease in the future as we
continue to execute our growth strategy and comapgaénst other ETF sponsors and new market enthafg@generally decrease our level of
advertising in the third quarter due to a gendmt/down of trading activity in the market duringeteummer months, but we may change that
strategy going forward based on our financial tssgbmpetitive pressures and market conditionadtiition, we may incur expenditures in

certain periods to attract inflows, the benefitndifich may or may not be recognized from increasesit AUM in future periods. However, @
to the discretionary nature of some of these ctisty, can generally be reduced if there were areahl the markets.

Sales and business developmi
Sales and business development expenses are réeanda incurred and includes the following:

» travel and entertainment or conference related resgeefor our sales forc
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 market data services for our research te
» sales related software tools; ¢

» legal and other advisory fees associated with gwveldpment of new funds or business initiati

Professional and consulting fee

Professional fees are expensed when incurred arsist@f fees we pay to corporate advisers inclydiccountants, tax advisers, legal
counsel, investment bankers, human resources er otimsultants. These expenses fluctuate basedroreeds or requirements at the time.
Certain of these costs are at our discretion andloatuate year to year.

Also included in professional fees was stock-basedpensation related to restricted stock or opiwards we granted to senior advisers
to our Board of Directors. Under generally acceptecbunting principles, these awards were considesiiable expenses and are re-measure
each reporting period with a corresponding impadatockholders’ equity. These awards were fullyesqed at November 2012.

Occupancy, communications and equipment

Occupancy, communications and equipment expensalie costs for our corporate headquarters in Nevk City. As discussed above,
we entered into a new 16 year lease beginning ua&u2013. These costs will increase compared 18 Bvels.

Depreciation and amortizatiol

Depreciation and amortization expense results piflynfaom amortization of leasehold improvementota office space as well as
depreciation on fixed assets we purchase whickfsetiated over three or seven years. This expeitidacrease in future periods in
connection with the amortization of leasehold inyamments for our new office space as discussed above

Third party sharing arrangements

Included in third party sharing arrangements expee (i) payments from and reimbursements to tlsngspect to our joint venture w
Mellon Capital and Dreyfus and (ii) payments tadiparties to market our ETFs.

In 2008, we entered into a mutual participatioreagnent with Mellon Capital and Dreyfus, wholly owlitgy BNY Mellon, in which we
agreed to collaborate in developing currency axedfincome ETFs under the WisdomTree Trust. Unteeayreement, we contributed our
expertise in operating the ETFs, sales, marketingrasearch, and BNY Mellon contributed sub-adyisiund administration and accounting
services for these collaborated ETFs. All thirdtypaosts and profits and losses were shared eqUdllg agreement terminated on
December 31, 2012 and we entered into a new faeagement with BNY Mellon. Under the new arrangemBMY Mellon continues to serve
as portfolio manager to these ETFs under moretioadi sub-advisory economic terms and such expeaserecorded in fund management
and administration expense.

Our joint venture with Mellon Capital and Dreyfussvconsidered a collaborative arrangement andcéisvee determined that we were
the principal participant for transactions undeés ttollaborative arrangement and we recorded tlrassactions on a gross basis reflecting ¢
the revenues and third party expenses on our fiabstatements in accordance with the nature ofélienue or expense. Any net profit/loss
payments were reflected in the “Third Party Shangngement” expense line.

Other

Other expenses consist primarily of insurance puemsj general office related expenses, securitessie fees for our sales force, public
company related expenses, corporate related tamebéntertainment and board of director fees, dinlystock-based compensation related to
equity awards we granted to our directors.

Factors that May Impact our Future Financial Results

Our revenues are highly correlated to the levelratative mix of our AUM, as well as the fee ragsaciated with our ETFs. While our
AUM has increased on an annual basis, we have iexpped fluctuations on a quarterly basis due taxgha in net inflows
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and market movement. A significant portion of oWM is invested in securities issued outside ofUimited States. Therefore, our AUM and
our revenues are affected by movements in glohgtalanarket levels and the strengthening or weadgeaf the U.S. dollar against other
currencies.

Another factor impacting our revenues is the fess®eaiated with our ETFs. Our overall average féeisaaffected by the mix of flows
into our ETFs. With a significant portion of our MUinvested in securities issued outside of the Ua&vorable market sentiment to emerging
markets, currencies and international fixed incdasrlikely to have a positive effect on our overalvenue and conversely unfavorable market
sentiment is likely to have a negative impact.

In addition, we currently compete within the ETFrike against several large ETF sponsors, many snedbnsors, as well as new
entrants to the marketplace, and will compete agjdénge asset management companies who have lyeleemiched or announced intentions tc
launch ETF products. However, it is our belief that ability to gather inflows into our ETFs, coeglwith general stock market trends, will
have the greatest impact on our business.

We have and will continue to strategically invesbir business in order to continue and accelenatgrowth in the fast growing ETF
industry. Our investment in strategic growth ititias includes:
» higher spending on marketing and advertising andsales efforts and provide value added conteautclients;
» incremental increases to our headcount, primarilyales and sales support functions;

» launching of additional ETFs to further broaden atrdngthen our product offerin

We expect our investment in strategic growth itiitis to range from $6.0 to $9.0 million in 2014eTcomponents of our strategic
growth initiatives may increase or decrease frompdanned estimates depending on the nature ajrthweth initiatives and market conditions.

Our current gross margin, which we define as otal tevenues less our fund management and adnaitistrexpenses and less third
party sharing arrangements, was 76% for the yed@dbecember 31, 2013. After the transfer of ondfaccounting and administrative
services from BNY Mellon to State Street we expastgross margins to be between 77% and 80% ingbheterm.

Gross margin is a non-GAAP financial measuremernthvive believe provides useful and meaningful infation as it is a financial
measurement management reviews when evaluatingdimpany’s operating results. We define gross magitotal revenues less fund
management and administration expenses and thitgl gfzaring arrangements. We believe this finanmiehsurement provides investors wil
consistent way to analyze the amount we retaim piging third party service providers to operate BTFs and third party marketing agents
whose fees are associated with our AUM level. THiewing table reflects the calculation of our gsamargin:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Total revenues $149,46¢ $84,79¢ $65,16(
Less:

Fund management and administral 35,07¢ 23,02( 19,88:

Third party sharing arrangemel 1,36¢ 5,46¢ 5,651
Gross margir 113,02 56,31( 39,62
Gross margin percenta 76% 66% 61%

Seasonality

We believe seasonal fluctuations in the asset neanagt industry are common. However, since we begawoperations, we believe thi
seasonal trends may have been masked by the udpraed volatility in the global equity markets. Téfere, period to period comparisons of
ours or the industry’s net inflows may not be maghil and not indicative of results in future peiso
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Key Operating Statistics

The following table presents key operating statssthat serve as indicators for the performanaiobusiness:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Total ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse $18,28t¢ $12,18: $ 9,891
Inflows/(outflows) 14,32 4,73 3,89¢
Market appreciation/(depreciatio 2,27¢ 1,37z 1,60¢)
End of period asse $34,88:¢ $18,28t¢ $12,18:
Average assets during the per $28,47 $15,55¢ $11,73¢
ETF Industry and Market Share (in billions)
ETF industry net inflow: $ 18C $ 18t $ 1ie
WisdomTree market share of industry inflo 8.C% 2.6% 3.2%
International Hedged Equity ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse $ 1,25¢ $ 41¢ $ 14c
Inflows/(outflows) 10,44: 757 37z
Market appreciation/(depreciatio 1,64¢ 83 (97
End of period asse $13,34¢ $ 1,25¢ $ 41¢
Average assets during the per $ 8,77( $ 60C $ 44¢
Emerging Markets Equity ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse $ 7,332 $ 3,61 $ 3,78(
Inflows/(outflows) 86¢ 3,111 924
Market appreciation/(depreciatio (749 60¢ 1,099
End of period asse $ 7,44¢ $ 7,332 $ 3,618
Average assets during the per $ 7,762 $ 5,71¢ $ 3,664
U.S. Equity ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse $ 4,371 $ 3,42¢ $ 2,057
Inflows/(outflows) 1,477 61C 1,25¢
Market appreciation/(depreciatio 1,33¢ 332 117
End of period asse $ 7,181 $ 4,371 $ 3,42¢
Average assets during the per $ 5,81¢ $ 4,25 $ 2,507
International Developed Equity ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse $ 2,474 $ 1,98¢ $ 2,16¢
Inflows/(outflows) 967 242 99
Market appreciation/(depreciatio 427 24z (279
End of period asse $ 3,86¢ $ 2,474 $ 1,98¢
Average assets during the per $ 2,95¢ $ 2,25¢ $ 2,18¢
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Fixed Income ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio
Reclass from Currenc

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
Currency ETFs (in millions)

Beginning of period asse

Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

Reclass to Fixed Incor

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
Alternative Strategy ETFs (in millions)

Beginning of period asse

Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
Average ETF asset mix during the perioc
International hedged equity ET

Emerging markets equity ET]
U.S. equity ETF:

International developed equity ET
Fixed income ETF

Currency ETF:

Alternative Strategy ETF

Total

Average ETF advisory fee during the perioc
Number of ETFs—end of period
International developed equity ET
U.S. equity ETF:
Fixed income ETF
Emerging markets equity ET]
International hedged equity ET
Currency ETF:
Alternative Strategy ETF
Total

Headcount

41

$2,11¢ $1,50€
121 491
(339 121
$1,90¢ $2,11¢
$2,35: $1,77C
$ 611 $ 95C
41¢ (351)
(50) 12

$ 97¢ $ 611
$ 672 $ 772
$ 122 $ 277
34 (129)

2 (26)

$ 15¢ $ 122
$ 137 $ 191
31% 4%
27% 37%
20% 27%
11% 15%
8% 11%
2% 5%
1% 1%
10C% 10C%
0.52% 0.5%
16 16

13 11

11 5

7 5

6 2

6 5

2 2

61 46

87 70
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Decembet, 2012

Overview
As of and for the Year Percent
Ended December 31,
2013 2012 Change Change
Assets Under Management (in millions
Beginning of period asse $ 18,28¢ $12,18:
Net inflows 14,32 4,73 9,591 202.1%
Market appreciation/(depreciatio 2,27¢ 1,37z
End of period asse $ 34,88¢ $18,28¢ $16,59¢ 90.£%
Financial Results (in thousands)
Total revenue: $149,46¢ $84,79¢ $64,67( 76.2%
Total expense 97,931 73,76¢ 24,16! 32.&%
Net income $ 51,53i $11,03( $40,50" 367.2%

Our AUM increased 90.8% from $18.3 billion at threleof 2012 to $34.9 billion at the end of 2013 iity due to $9.8 billion of net
inflows into our Japan hedged equity ETF. We regmbrtet income of $51.5 million in 2013 compare®1d.0 million in 2012 primarily due to
higher average AUM.

Revenue
Year Ended Perceni
December 31,
2013 2012 Change Change
Average assets under management (in millions) $ 28,47 $15,55¢ $12,91¢ 83.1%
Average ETF advisory fe 0.52% 0.54% (0.02) (3.7%)
ETF advisory fees (in thousanc $148,59: $84,02¢ $64,57( 76.€%
Other income (in thousand 874 774 10C 12.9%
Total revenues (in thousanc $149,46¢ $84,79¢ $64,67( 76.5%

ETF advisory fees

ETF advisory fees revenue increased 76.8% from0&&dlion in 2012 to $148.6 million in 2013. Thisarease was primarily due to
higher average asset balances due to record lewel inflows. The average fee earned decreas@db¥% in 2013 from 0.54% in 2012
primarily due to a change in mix of our AUM, in paudlar an increase in AUM in our international ged equity ETFs.

Other income

Other income increased 12.9% from 2012 to 2013 Hurease was primarily due to higher interesbine from our growing cash
balances partly offset by lower index licensingstee
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Expenses
Year Ended Percent
December 31,
(in thousands 2013 2012 Change Change
Compensation and benefits $36,21( $23,23: $12,97" 55.%
Fund management and administral 35,07¢ 23,02( 12,05¢ 52.4%
Marketing and advertisin 8,30¢ 5,36: 2,94¢ 54.9%
Sales and business developnr 6,47¢ 3,58¢ 2,88¢ 80.5%
Professional and consulting fe 2,74¢ 4,60: (1,859 (40.2%)
Occupancy, communications and equipn 2,78¢ 1,41¢ 1,36t 96.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 43¢ 307 132 43.(%
Third party sharing arrangemel 1,36¢ 5,46¢ (4,100 (75.0%)
Other 4,52: 2,97¢ 1,547 52.(%
ETF shareholder prox — 3,26¢ (3,269 n/e
Litigation, net — 17¢€ (17¢) n/e
Exchange listing and offerir — 358 (359 n/e
Total expense $97,93: $73,76¢ $24,16: 32.8%
Year Ended
December 31,
As a Percent of Revenue 2013 2012
Compensation and benefits 24.2% 27.8%
Fund management and administrai 23.5% 27.1%
Marketing and advertisin 5.€% 6.2%
Sales and business developmr 4.2% 4.2%
Professional and consulting fe 1.8% 5.4%
Occupancy, communications and equipn 1.% 1.7%
Depreciation and amortizatic 0.2% 0.4%
Third party sharing arrangemel 0.€% 6.5%
Other 3.C% 3.5%
ETF shareholder prox 0.C% 3.2%
Litigation, net 0.C% 0.2%
Exchange listing and offerir 0.C% _0.4%
Total expense 65.5% 87.(%

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits expense increased 55@&eH23.2 million in 2012 to $36.2 million in 201Bhis increase was primarily due
to higher accrued incentive compensation due tetyang results in 2013 as well as costs associgithchigher headcount. Our headcount
increased from 70 employees to 87 by the end 08201

Fund management and administration

Fund management and administration expense inaté&asd% from $23.0 million in 2012 to $35.1 milliam2013. At the end of 2012,
we ended our joint venture with BNY Mellon. As su#, we began to record certain operating cosaser@ to our currency and fixed income
ETFs, which were previously recognized by BNY Mgalks part of the joint venture. This resulted ipragimately $2.2 million in higher costs
in 2013.

Higher average AUM led to an increase of $8.4 mnillin portfolio management, fund administration acdounting, index licensing, and
distribution fees. Printing related fees increa®@@® million due to an increase in the number a@frsholders owning our ETFs. This expense
also increased due to 15 new ETFs launched in 20&3had 46 ETFs at the end of 2012 and 61 ETHeeatrid of 2013.

Marketing and advertising

Marketing and advertising expense increased 54r8% $5.4 million in 2012 to $8.3 million in 2013iprarily due to higher levels of
television, print and online advertising to suppmut existing and new ETFs.
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Sales and business development

Sales and business development expense increas®d 80m $3.6 million in 2012 to $6.5 million in 28 primarily due to increased
sales related spending as well as new producerketaists.

Professional and consulting fees

Professional and consulting fees decreased 40.@% $4.6 million in 2012 to $2.7 million in 2013. iShdecrease was primarily due to
lower variable stock-based compensation for ecuitgrds granted to strategic advisers. Partly difgpthis decrease was an increase in
advisory fees associated with our planned acqoisitf Boost.

Occupancy, communications and equipment

Occupancy, communications and equipment expenseased 96.2% from $1.4 million in 2012 to $2.8 iwillin 2013 primarily due to
additional rent expense for new office space weddan August 2013 as our then existing lease wexdre in January 2014.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increaseaP4&om $0.3 million to $0.4 million due to accederd depreciation for assets rele
to our terminated office lease.

Third party sharing arrangements

Third party sharing arrangements decreased 75.6fb $5.5 million in 2012 to $1.4 million in 2013 prarily due to the end of our joint
venture with BNY Mellon at the end of 2012. Padf§setting this decrease were higher fees to ouketimg agents due to higher levels of
inflows from Latin America.

Other
Other expenses increased 52.0% from $3.0 millic0ih2 to $4.5 million in 2013 primarily due to hatcorporate insurance and other

office administrative related expenses.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Decembet, 2011

Overview
As of and for the Year Percent
Ended December 31,
2012 2011 Change Change
Assets Under Management (in millions
Beginning of period asse $12,18: $ 9,891
Net inflows 4,73 3,89¢ 83: 21.4%
Market appreciation/(depreciatio 1,37 (1,609
End of period asse $18,28t¢ $12,18: $ 6,104 50.1%
Financial Results (in thousands
Total revenue: $84,79¢ $65,16( $19,63¢ 30.1%
Total expense 73,76¢ 62,06¢ 11,70( 18.%
Net income $11,03( $ 3,097 $ 7,93¢ 256.1%

Our AUM increased 50.1% from $12.2 billion at thmeleof 2011 to $18.3 billion at the end of 2012 ity due to strong net inflows
into our ETFs and positive market movement. We rgggonet income of $11.0 million in 2012 compare®38.1 million in 2011 primarily due
to higher average AUM.
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Revenue
Year Ended Percent
December 31,
2012 2011 Change Change
Average assets under management (in millions) $15,55¢ $11,73¢ $ 3,81t 32.5%
Average ETF advisory fe 0.5/% 0.55% (0.09 (1.8%)
ETF advisory fees (in thousanc $84,02¢ $64,36¢ $19,65¢ 30.5%
Other income (in thousand 774 794 (20 (2.5%)
Total revenues (in thousanc $84,79¢ $65,16( $19,63¢ 30.1%

ETF advisory fees

ETF advisory fees revenue increased 30.5% from4ddllion in 2011 to $84.0 million in 2012. Thisarease was primarily due to higl
average asset balances due to strong net inflosisydarly into our emerging markets and internatibequity ETFs. The average fee earned
decreased to 0.54% in 2012 from 0.55% in 2011 piiyndue to a change in mix of our AUM, in partienifrom our emerging markets equity
ETFs.

Other income

Other income decreased 2.5% from 2011 to 2012. ddtutine was primarily due to lower separate actoevenues and lower interest
income on our cash balances. Following the firsirtgr of 2011, we no longer managed separate atzoun

Expenses
Year Ended Percent
December 31
(in thousands 2012 2011 Change Change
Compensation and benefits $23,23¢ $19,63¢ $ 3,59¢ 18.2%
Fund management and administrai 23,02( 19,88: 3,13¢ 15.8%
Marketing and advertisin 5,363 4,47¢ 88¢ 19.£%
Sales and business developr 3,58¢ 3,60: ()] (0.E%)
Professional and consulting fe 4,60: 4,307 29¢ 6.2%
Occupancy, communications and equipn 1,41¢ 1,123 292 25.9%
Depreciation and amortizatic 307 267 4C 15.(%
Third party sharing arrangemel 5,46¢ 5,651 (183) (3.2%)
Other 2,97¢ 2,24% 733 32.7%
ETF shareholder prox 3,26¢ — 3,26¢ n/e
Litigation, net 17¢€ 15C 26 17.2%
Exchange listing and offerir 353 72¢ (376) (51.€%)
Total expense $73,76¢ $62,06¢ $11,70( 18.9%
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Year Ended

December 31,
As a Percent of Revenue 2012 2011
Compensation and benefits 27.2% 30.1%
Fund management and administrai 27.1% 30.5%
Marketing and advertisin 6.2% 6.S%
Sales and business developmr 4.2% 5.5%
Professional and consulting fe 5.4% 6.6%
Occupancy, communications and equipn 1.7% 1.7%
Depreciation and amortizatic 0.4% 0.5%
Third party sharing arrangemel 6.5% 8.7%
Other 3.5% 3.4%
ETF shareholder prox 3.€% 0.C%
Litigation, net 0.2% 0.2%
Exchange listing and offerir _0.4% _1.1%
Total expense 87.(% 95.2%

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits expense increased 18d386#19.6 million in 2011 to $23.2 million in 201Phis increase was primarily due
to higher accrued incentive compensation due tetyang results, higher stock-based compensatiparese due to equity awards granted to
our employees as part of their 2011 year end ingegbmpensation, as well as costs associatedhigtier headcount. Our headcount at the
end of 2012 was 70 compared to 65 at the end df.201

Fund management and administration

Fund management and administration expense inatd&s8% from $19.9 million in 2011 to $23.0 milliom2012. Higher average AU
led to an increase of $1.9 million in portfolio nagement, fund administration and accounting, inaexsing, and distribution fees. Included
in 2011 is a one-time charge of $0.7 million redstte reimbursing the WisdomTree India ETF for escess we collected as a result of
overestimating the operating expense recaptureféedise India ETF's fiscal year ended March 311 20Printing related fees increased $0.4
million due to an increase in the number of shdddrs owning our ETFs and legal related fees irsgé#0.3 million due to additional
services. This expense also increased due to tditiathl ETFs we launched in 2012. We had 47 ETtReeend of 2011, we launched 2 new
ETFs during 2012 and closed 3 ETFs at the end &2 28sulting in 46 ETFs at the end of 2012.

Marketing and advertising

Marketing and advertising expense increased 19r8%6 $4.5 million in 2011 to $5.4 million in 2012iprarily due to higher levels of
television, print and online advertising to suppmrt growth.

Sales and business development

Sales and business development expense was ebgemtidanged at $3.6 million in 2012 and 2011 ighér sales related activity
expenses to support our growth offset lower nevdpcorelated spending.

Professional and consulting fees

Professional and consulting fees increased 6.9%6 $4.3 million in 2011 to $4.6 million in 2012. \fable stock-based compensation for
equity awards granted to strategic advisers deede®8.5 million due to the full vesting of equityvards we granted to na@mployees. We wi
not have variable compensation costs going forwRaditly offsetting this decrease was an increasedounting and legal related fees as a
result of becoming a fully reporting public compaaryd complying with the requirements of the SarbaDrley Act of 2002 as well as
executive recruiting fees associated with the $efimca new Chief Operating Officer which was coatptl during 2012.
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Occupancy, communications and equipment

Occupancy, communications and equipment expenseased 25.9% from $1.1 million in 2011 to $1.4 ioillin 2012 primarily due to
the end of our office space we had sub-leased12.20

Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense remainedvelg unchanged at $0.3 million in 2011 and 2012.

Third party sharing arrangements

Third party sharing arrangements decreased 3.2 $& 7 million in 2011 to $5.5 million in 2012 pramly due to lower levels of net
profits in our currency and fixed income ETFs, whare subject to a profit sharing agreement wittideCapital and Dreyfus. Partly
offsetting this decrease was higher fees paiditd garties for marketing our ETFs.

Other

Other expenses increased 32.7% from $2.2 millic20ihl to $3.0 million in 2012 primarily due to hegthcorporate insurance, public
company and administrative related expenses.

ETF shareholder proxy

In 2012, we initiated the solicitation of proxigsrh the WisdomTree ETF shareholders to obtain afgbfor us to continue as investm:
adviser for the WisdomTree ETFs if our largest kbadder, Michael Steinhardt, who then beneficiallyned 25.5% of our common stock pr
to the second public offering, discussed below gwersell or otherwise transfer shares of our comstock resulting in his beneficial
ownership falling below 25%. The Investment Company presumes a change in control of our CompaMrifSteinhardt’'s ownership fell
below the 25% threshold, which would trigger aroaudtic termination of our investment advisory agreats with the WisdomTree Trust and
require approval of the WisdomTree ETF shareholtec®ntinue the agreements. We also sought apipirova the WisdomTree ETF
shareholders to allow us to change sub-advisedtifuture without further shareholder approval. ¥@epleted the proxy solicitation and
obtained the required approvals in August 2012fMiiner shareholder approval was required wheiNadawember 2012, Mr. Steinhardt’s
ownership fell below 25% in connection with a sedamy offering we conducted. We incurred $3.3 miilia proxy related expenses in 2012.

Litigation, net

In December 2011, Research Affiliates, LLC filedgrd infringement lawsuit against us. In Novemb@t2, Research Affiliates withdr:
its lawsuit and entered into a settlement agreemvéhtus. Our insurance carrier funded a signiftaaajority of the costs of defending us. We
incurred $3.4 million of legal defense and othesoasated costs and our insurance carrier reimbursé®.5 million. In addition, we received
$0.7 million settlement payment from Research Affds leading to a net amount of $0.2 million in c@sts for 2012. We incurred $0.2 milli
in legal costs in 2011.

Exchange Listing and Offering

On July 26, 2011, we listed our common stock on TASDAQ Global Market and incurred $0.7 millionéxpenses related to the
listing. In February 2012, we completed a publiienfg of our common stock at $5.61 per share. @@ sne million shares and certain of our
stockholders sold 15.5 million shares. Proceedsstdess commissions and other direct selling esggrwere approximately $4.3 million and
were used for working capital and other genergbomate purposes. In November 2012, we completeg@ns public offering of our common
stock where certain of our existing stockholdetd 2.8 million shares at $6.10 per share. We didsell any stock in the second offering and
we did not receive any proceeds from the sale afeshof our common stock by the selling stockhaldéfe incurred $0.4 million in expenses
in 2012 related to the November offering.
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Quarterly Results

The following tables set forth our unaudited coitaiked quarterly statement of operations data, lotlollar amounts and as a percen
of total revenues, and our unaudited consolidatedtgrly operating data for the quarters in 201@ 201.3. In our opinion, this unaudited
information has been prepared on substantiallyséime basis as the consolidated financial staterapptsaring elsewhere in this Report and
includes all adjustments (consisting of normal reng adjustments) necessary for a fair statemetiteounaudited consolidated quarterly data
The unaudited consolidated quarterly data shouldthé together with the consolidated financialestents and related notes included
elsewhere in this Report. The results for any @uaate not necessarily indicative of results for ure period, and you should not rely on
them as such.

(in thousands) Q1/12 Q2/12 Q3/12 Q4/12 Q1/13 Q2/13 Q3/13 Q4/13
Revenues
ETF advisory fee $18,97¢  $20,23( $21,44(  $23,37¢ $29,15¢  $37,10.  $39,437  $42,90:
Other income 19t 16: 221 19t 18¢ 23C 19: 263
Total revenue 19,17( 20,39: 21,66: 23,57+ 29,34 37,33 39,63( 43,16¢
Expenses
Compensation and benef 5,851 5,471 5,73¢ 6,16 7,482 9,44 9,64¢ 9,63:
Fund management and
administratior 5,43¢ 5,567 5,671 6,34: 8,22 9,10¢ 8,79¢ 8,95:¢
Marketing and advertisin 1,32¢ 1,54¢ 862 1,62 1,93 2,19¢ 2,031 2,14¢
Sales and business developn 86( 842 831 1,05: 1,801 1,52( 1,30t 1,84¢
Professional and consulting fe 1,10¢ 1,401 1,30¢ 78¢ 613 657 54z 93¢
Occupancy, communications and
equipmen 301 e 374 36¢ 377 591 723 1,09:¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 71 75 79 82 82 83 84 19C
Third party sharing arrangemel 1,74 1,22¢ 1,194 1,30(C 111 42¢ 374 45E
Other 60¢ 745 85¢ 76E 861 1,061 1,164 1,437
ETF shareholder prox 66 3,19¢ — — — — — —
Litigation, net 672 (197 21¢ (529 — — — —
Exchange listing and offerir — — — 353 — — — —
Total expense 18,05¢ 20,26¢ 17,12¢ 18,32: 21,48’ 25,08¢ 24,66 26,69(
Net income $1,118  $§ 12¢ $ 453 $ 5258 $ 7,85¢ $12,24:  $14,96¢  $16,47¢
Q1/12 Q2/12 Q3/12 Q4/12 Q1/13 Q2/13 Q3/13 Q4/13
Percent of Revenue
Revenues
ETF advisory fee 99.(% 99.2% 99.(% 99.2% 99.% 99.4% 99.5% 99.4%
Other income 1.C% 0.8% 1.C% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.5% 0.6%
Total revenue 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.(% 100.% 100.% 100.(% 100.(%
Expenses
Compensation and benef 30.5% 26.9% 26.5% 26.2% 25.5% 25.2% 24.%% 22.%%
Fund management and
administratior 28.2% 27.% 26.2% 26.% 28.(% 24.4% 22.2% 20.7%
Marketing and advertisin 6.S% 7.€% 4.(% 6.%% 6.6% 5.€% 5.1% 5.C%
Sales and business developrr 4.5% 4.1% 3.£% 4.5% 6.1% 4.1% 3.2% 4.2%
Professional and consulting fe 5.8% 6.%% 6.C% 3.2% 2.1% 1.8% 1.4% 2.2%
Occupancy, communications and
equipmen 1.€% 1.£% 1.7% 1.€% 1.2% 1.6% 1.8% 2.5%
Depreciation and amortizatic 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.4%
Third party sharing arrangemel 9.1% 6.C% 5.5% 5.5% 0.4% 1.1% 0.€% 1.1%
Other 3.2% 3.6% 4.(% 3.2% 2.%% 2.8% 2.%% 3.2%
ETF shareholder prox 0.2% 15.7% — — — — — —
Litigation, net 3.5% (0.€%) 1.C% (2.2%) — — — —
Exchange listing and offerir — — — 1.5% — — — —
Total expense 94.2% 99.4% 79.1% 77.1% 73.2% 67.2% 62.2% 61.8%
Net income 5.8% 0.6% 20.9% 22.2% 26.8% 32.8% 37.8% 38.2%
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Operating Statistics

Total ETF AUM (in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio
End of period asse

Average assets during the per

QU12

Q2/12 Q3/12

Q4/12

Q1/13

Q2/13

Q3/13 Q4/13

$12,18:
2,29¢
1,21C

$15,69. $15,00
33¢  1,03¢
(1,025 74

$16,78:
1,05¢
444

$18,28¢
5,89:
924

$25,10:
4,96:
(1090)

$28,97¢ $31,35:
1,16( 2,30¢
1,215 1,224

$15,69:

$15,00¢ $16,78:

$18,28¢

$25,10!

$28,97¢

$31,35. $34,88¢

$14,26¢

$15,11¢ $15,76¢
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ETF Industry and Market Share (in billions)
ETF industry net inflow:
WisdomTree market share of industry inflo
International Hedged Equity ETFs
(in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)
Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per

Emerging Markets Equity ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse

Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
U.S. Equity ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per

International Developed Equity ETFs
(in millions)

Beginning of period asse

Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
Fixed Income ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
Currency ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per
Alternative Strategy ETFs (in millions)
Beginning of period asse
Inflows/(outflows)

Market appreciation/(depreciatio

End of period asse

Average assets during the per

Average ETF Asset Mix (during the period)
International Hedged Equity ETI

Emerging Markets Equity ETF

U.S. Equity ETF

International Developed Equity ETI

Fixed Income ETF

Currency ETF¢

Alternative Strategy ETF

Total

Average ETF Advisory Fee (during the
period)

Q1/12 Q2/12 Q3/12 Q4/12 Q113 Q2/13 Q3/13 Q4/13
$532 $25C $516 $554 $522 $ 154 $ 537 $ 58.€
4.7% 14%  2.(% 1.9%  11.5%  32.2% 2.2% 3.9%
$ 41€ $ 62 $ 665 $ 56¢ $1,25¢ $ 5797 $10,27C  $11,48
13¢ 102 (72) 58¢ 4,071 4,37¢ 752 1,247
72 (68) (22) 101 46¢ 97 45¢ 624
$ 62 $ 665 $ 56C  $1,25¢ $5,797  $10,27(  $11,48°  $13,34¢
$ 491 $ 63€ $ 61C $ 66z $3,43: $862¢ $11,17F  $11,84¢
$3,61°  $559¢ $543( $6,54: $7,33  $8071 $717: $ 7,70¢
1,39¢ 462 73€ 51F 87¢€ (51) 28€ (24€)
582 (626) 37€ 27¢ (137) (84¢) 24F 9)
$5,59¢  $5,43( $6,54: $7,33: $8,071 $ 717: $ 7,70¢ $ 7,44¢
$4,78C  $5,39¢  $591f $6,761 $7,90: $ 7,96/ $7,28¢ $ 7,891
$3,42¢  $4,27F  $4,09/ $4,64C $4371 $5161 $5771 $ 6,271
565 (119) 362 (20E) 291 547 277 367
281 (68) 182 (64) 49¢ 69 221 54z
$4,27F  $4,09¢  $4,64C $4371 $5161 $5777 $6271 $ 7,181
$3,99C $4,101 $4,39¢ $452: $4,74¢ $5541 $6214 $ 6,771
$1,98¢  $2,33t  $2,187  $2,327  $247¢ $272¢ $ 263 $ 3,15
16 35 14 32 13¢ 57 20F 56E
182 (187) 13C 11F 11F (152) 312 14¢
$2,33t  $2,187  $2,327  $2,47¢ $2,72¢ $ 263 $ 3,15( $ 3,86
$2,18¢  $2217  $2,24¢  $2,36( $2,64C $282( $288 $ 3,49(
$1,50€  $1,73t  $1,69¢  $1,90¢ $2,11¢ $260( $ 2437 $ 2,09
161 (8) 14¢ 19C 50¢ 78 (320) (144)
68 (29) 58 24 (26) (247) (22) (45)
$1,73t  $1,69¢  $1,90¢ $2,11¢  $2,60C $ 2,437 $ 2,09 $ 1,90¢
$1,627  $1,71€  $1,74¢  $1,99C $2,45. $2,70C $ 2,24€ $ 2,00¢
$ 95 $81 $ 766 $ 654 $611 $ 626 $ 547 $ 50z
(104) 82 (129 (37) 12 (62) (48) 51E
35 (30) 14 (6) 3 (17) 3 (39)
$ 831 $ 76 $ 654 $ 611 $ 62€ $ 547 $ 502 $ 97€
$ 93t $ 826 $694 $632 $637 $ 607 $ 51E $ 093¢
$ 277 $ 24z $ 167 $ 147 $ 122 $ 12 $ 13¢ $ 15C
(23) (58) (24) (24) (4) 17 12 8
(12) (17) 4 1) 2 2 1)
$ 242 $ 167 $ 147 $ 122 $ 12 $ 13¢ $ 15C $ 15€
$ 252 $ 22 $ 15¢ $ 135 $ 11€ $ 134 $ 146 $ 15C
3% 4% 4% 4% 15% 30% 37% 36%
33% 36% 38% 39% 36% 28% 24% 24%
28% 27% 28% 26% 22% 20% 20% 20%
16% 15% 14% 14% 12% 10% 9% 11%
12% 11% 11% 12% 11% 10% 7% 6%
7% 6% 4% 4% 3% 2% 2% 3%
1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 0% 1% 0%
10(%  10(%  10C%  10(%  10C% 10(% 10C% 10C%
0506 0586 0586 0586 0586  05%  051%  0.51%
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QULz Q21 Q3/12 Q4/1z QU1 Q21 Q3/1F Q4/ls

Number of ETFs (end of period)

International Developed Equity ETI 16 1€ 16 16 16 1€ 16 16
U.S. Equity ETF 12 12 12 11 11 12 13 13
Fixed Income ETF 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 11
Emerging Markets Equity ETF 4 4 5 5 5 5 7 7
International Hedged Equity ETI 2 2 2 2 2 4 4 6
Currency ETF¢ 7 7 7 5 5 5 5 6
Alternative Strategy ETF 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Total 48 48 49 46 47 5C 53 61
Headcount 64 6€ 70 70 72 79 84 87

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes key data regardingliguidity, capital resources and use of cagitelund our operations:

December 31

2013 2012

Balance Sheet Data (in thousanc

Cash and cash equivale $104,31¢ $ 41,24¢

Investments 11,74¢ 11,03¢

Accounts receivabl 18,10( 9,34¢

Total liabilities (32,767) (12,365
$101,40: $ 49,26

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cash Flow Data (in thousand

Operating cash flow $70,12¢ $11,23¢ $13,69:
Investing cash flow (7,027) (2,359 (680)
Financing cash flow (27) 6,74( (1,615
Increase in cash and cash equival $63,07( $15,61¢ $11,39]

Liquidity

We consider our available liquidity to be our liquassets less our liabilities. Liquid assets comdisash and cash equivalents, current
receivables and investments. Cash and cash equisahelude cash on hand and non-interest-bearidgraerest-bearing deposits with
financial institutions. Accounts receivable priniarepresents advisory fees we earn from the Wisthes ETFs which is collected by the fifth
business day of the month following the month edrirevestments represent debt instruments of Lbemmment and agency securities. Our
liabilities consist primarily of payments owed tendors and third parties in the normal course sffiess as well as accrued year end incentiv
compensation for employees.

Cash and cash equivalents increased $63.1 mili@©13 primarily due to $70.1 million of cash flogsnerated by our operating
activities as a result of higher revenues from aighverage AUM, $1.6 million received from the eXse of stock options and $2.8 million
from the redemption of investments we held durlmgytear. Partly offsetting these increases wasélidn used for purchase of fixed assets
and leasehold improvements for our new office sgenk$3.6 million used to purchase new investments.
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Cash and cash equivalents increased $15.6 mili@®12 primarily due to $11.2 million of cash flogmnerated by our operating
activities as a result of higher revenues from aigiverage AUM, $4.7 million received from the of stock options and $4.3 million
from the sale of our common stock. We also recef&8 million from the redemption of investment aedd during the year. Partly offsetting
these increases was $10.0 million used to puramasenvestments.

Cash and cash equivalents increased $11.4 miti@®11 primarily due to $13.7 million of cash flogsnerated by our operating
activities as a result of higher revenues from aighverage AUM offset by $2.2 million of cash floused to repurchase our common stock.
We also received $7.5 million from the redemptiéimeestment we held during the year. Partly otisgtthese increases was $8.1 million net
proceeds used to purchase new investments.

Capital Resources

Currently, our principal source of financing is ayrerating cash flow. We believe that current daslis generated by our operating
activities and existing cash balances should bigcgrit for us to fund our operations for at letist next 12 months.

Use of Capital

Our business does not require us to maintain afsignt cash position. We expect that our main wfesash will be to fund the ongoing
operations of our business, invest in strategievtftanitiatives, re-acquire shares of our commartktissued to our employees as incentive
compensation as discussed below or expand ourdsssthrough strategic acquisitions.

In 2011, we repurchased 386,396 shares from oulogwegs at then current market prices at a cos2 fillion. In 2012, we
repurchased 357,123 shares from our employeesmctirrent market prices at a cost of $2.3 milllor013, we repurchased 136,641 shares
from our employees at then current market pricesast of $1.6 million. These repurchases wemimection with tax withholding upon
vesting of restricted stock. The amount repurchaspresented the required amount of tax withholdllg expect to continue purchasing
shares for similar reasons.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our future cash pawyts associated with contractual obligations d3eafember 31, 2013.

Payments Due by Perioc
(in thousands)

Less than ! More than 5
Total year 1to 3 year 3to 5 year years
Operating leases $4392¢ $ 3,121 $ 5681 $ 8,31¢ $ 26,80

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than operating leases, which are includetériable above, we do not have any off-balancetdtreancing or other arrangements.
We have neither created nor are party to any sppargose or off-balance sheet entities for theppae of raising capital, incurring debt or
operating our business.

Critical Accounting Policies
Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company earns investment advisory fees for Ehlsseparately managed accounts as well as liefests from third parties. ETF
advisory fees are based on a percentage of the &#fage daily net assets and recognized overethiedathe related service is provided. Fees
for separately managed accounts and licensingamedoon a percentage of the average monthly retseessd recognized over the period the
related service is provided.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense reflects thedhie of stock-based awards measured at grantddtés recognized over the relevant
service period. The fair value of each option awarekstimated on the date of grant using the BBchkeles option valuation model. The Black-
Scholes option valuation model we use includesrthet of certain variables that are dependent turéuexpectations, including the expected
lives of our options from grant date to exercisgedthe volatility of our underlying common shaneshe market over that time period, the rate
of dividends that we may pay during that time andyppropriate risk-free interest rate. Many of éhes
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assumptions require management's judgment. If hetymerience differs significantly from these esttas, stock-based compensation expens
and our results of operations could be materidfycéed.

Income and Deferred Taxe

We recognize an asset or liability for the defeti@dconsequences of temporary differences bettheetax basis of assets and liabilities
and their reported amounts in the financial stateémeérhese temporary differences will result iratale or deductible amounts in future years
when the reported amounts of assets are recovetabitities are settled. A valuation allowanceaésorded to reduce the carrying values of
deferred tax assets and liabilities to the amduattis more likely than not to be realized. As @cBPmber 31, 2013, we have net operating loss
carry forwards and we have recognized a deferredgaet for such carry forwards that are not attable to excess tax benefits from our stock
based compensation awards. Given the significaabta losses we have incurred since we began @ratpns and excess tax deductions
attributable to our employees exercising optiorts the vesting of restricted stock we grant to elygés as part of compensation, a valuation
allowance has been recorded for the full amoutih@fdeferred tax asset.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
None.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

In the normal course of business, our financialltesare subject to market risk. Market risk tageserally represents the risk of changes
in the value of financial instruments held in tletfolios of the WisdomTree ETFs that generallyutesfrom fluctuations in equity prices,
foreign currency exchange rates against the U.l&ardand interest rates. Nearly all of our reveismuderived from advisory agreements for the

portfolios we manage.

Fluctuations in the value of these securities arernon and are generated by numerous factors sutlaket volatility, the overall
economy, inflation, changes in investor strategagsjlability of alternative investment vehiclesygrnment regulations and others.
Accordingly changes in any one or a combinatiothese factors may reduce the value of investmenirgies and, in turn, the underlying
AUM on which our revenues are earned. These declimey cause investors to withdraw funds from ouf&ih favor of investments that they
perceive as offering greater opportunity or lowsk,rthereby compounding the impact on our revenBeginning in the second half of 2008
and into 2009, global equity markets experiencgateredented volatility which caused significantloies in our AUM and revenues during
the quarters in that time period. Challenging aoktie market conditions might continue to be prasn the foreseeable future.

In order to maximize yields, we invest our corpereash in short-term interest earning assets, pijirmoney market instruments at a
commercial bank and U.S. government and agencyidstibtments which totaled $11.0 million and $1miflion as of December 31, 2012 a
2013, respectively. We do not anticipate that cleang interest rates will have a material impacbanfinancial condition, operating results or
cash flows.

ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPL EMENTARY DATA

The report of the independent registered publioaeting firm and financial statements listed in #seompanying index are included in
Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Seeebntb the consolidated financial statements on Fagef this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2013, our management, with #régipation of our Chief Executive Officer and dbhief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure otsind procedures pursuant to Rule 18és) promulgated under the Securities Exchange
of 1934, as amended, or the “Exchange ABa%ed upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®ffand our Chief Financial Officer concluc
that, as of December 31, 2013, our disclosure otsnéand procedures were effective at a reasonablaance level in ensuring that material
information required to be disclosed by us in tygarts that we file or submit under the Exchangei®\oecorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in thkes, regulations and forms of the Securities axchBnge Commission, or the SEC, including
ensuring that such material information is accuteddy and communicated to our management, inajudim Chief Executive Officer and c
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to alloméily decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, there wo changes in our internal control over finah@porting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting

Report of Management on Internal Control over Finartial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as defined in Rules 13a:
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. In otdeevaluate the effectiveness of internal contradr financial reporting, management has
conducted an assessment, including testing, ubigriteria ininternal Control—Integrated Framework (1992ssued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisg@@fdSO). Our system of internal control over finahceporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaincial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfees Our internal control over financial repogiimcludes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records, tinateasonable detail, accurately and fairly ietftbe transactions and dispositions of our
company’s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurdwateransactions are recorded as necessarynutp@eparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of thgamy are being made only in accorde
with authorizations of management and directorthefCompany; and (iii) provide reasonable assuraegarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or akgipon of the Company’s assets that could havaeerial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Based on the assessment, management has condiatledit company maintained effective internal cgrdwer financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on criteriénternal Control—Integrated Framework (1998sued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal cortka@r financial reporting as of December 31, 2048 Ibeen audited by Ernst & Young
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report, which is includeceire

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 401 of Regulat¥K regarding directors and officers will be contad in our definitive proxy
statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 144tie 2014 Annual Meeting of our stockholders, etpe to be filed within 120 days of our
fiscal year end, or in an amendment to this ForaK.18nd is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by Item 405 of Regulat®K will be contained in our definitive proxy statent or in an amendment to this
Form 10-K, and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that appliel & aur directors, officers and employees, inéhgdour principal executive officer
and principal financial and accounting officer. T®ede of Conduct is posted on our website at littmiisdomtree.com/governance.cfm.

We will post any amendments to, or waivers fromravision of this Code of Conduct by posting sutfoimation on our website, at the
address and location specified above.

The information required by Item 407(c)(3), (d)é&d (d)(5) of Regulation S-K will be contained ur alefinitive proxy statement or in
an amendment to this Form 10-K, and is incorporagzein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 402 and Item 4Q)@eand (e)(5) of Regulation S-K will be containadur definitive proxy statement
or in an amendment to this Form 10-K, and is inocaifed herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 201(d) and Iten3 4® Regulation S-K will be contained in our definé proxy statement or in an
amendment to this Form 10-K, and is incorporataeiheby reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 404 and Item 4Q6faRegulation S-K will be contained in our definé proxy statement or in an
amendment to this Form 10-K, and is incorporataeihedy reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 9(e) of Schedulé Will be contained in our definitive proxy statent or in an amendment to this
Form 10-K, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS; FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a). The following are filed as part of this Anniport on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial StatementEhe consolidated financial statements and regfartdependent registered public accounting
firm required by this item are included beginningpage -1.

2. Financial Statement Schedules: Nc

All other schedules are omitted because they arappicable or not required, or because the reduimformation is shown either
in the consolidated financial statements or inrtbies thereto.

(b). Exhibits: The attached list of exhibits in thexhibit Index” immediately preceding the exhibftsthis annual report is incorporated
herein by reference in response to this item.

56



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 1%@)1Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registnass duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunip alithorized.

WISDOMTREE INVESTMENTS, INC

By: /s/__JONATHAN L. S TEINBERG
Jonathan L. Steinberg
Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 3, 201«

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicateld\w on the 3rd day of March, 2014.

Signature Title

/s/ JONATHAN L. S TEINBERG President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Jonathan L. Steinberg (Principal Executive Officer

/sl AmIT M UNI Executive Vice Preside—Finance and Chie
Amit Muni Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s| BRUCEI. L AVINE

Vice Chairman an
Bruce I. Lavine

Director

/s| MICHAEL S TEINHARDT

Non-Executive Chairman of the Boa
Michael Steinhardt

/s/  STEVENL. B EGLEITER

Director
Steven L. Begleiter

/s| ANTHONY B 0SSONE Director
Anthony Bossone

/s/ R. RRRETTL ILIEN Director

R. Jarrett Lilien
/s WIN N EUGER Director
Win Neuger
/s] FRANK S ALERNO Director

Frank Salerno
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Wisdoeglinvestments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and 8iabisis as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, stockholders’ equity and cagwdlfor each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013. These financi@retnts are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries aeBer 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidatedtseduheir operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghDecember 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. galigraccepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), WisdomTree
Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal cdraxe@r financial reporting as of December 31, 2(d&s5ed on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992 framework) and our
report dated March 3, 2014 expressed an unqualbifiéaion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
New York, NY
March 3, 2014

F-2



Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Wisdoeglinvestments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited WisdomTree Investments, Inc. aldiBiaries’ internal control over financial repogias of December 31, 2013 basec
on criteria established in Internal Control—InteégthFramework issued by the Committee of Sponsddirganizations of the Treadway
Commission (1992 framework) (the COSO criteria)stidimTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ manageis responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Report ohiigement on Internal Control over Financial RepgrtOur responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company'’s internal control over fingl reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifegfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, WisdomTree Investments, Inc. anbsdiaries maintained, in all material respectieative internal control over financi
reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on theGCEO&eria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of WisdomTree Investnkrt. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 20d32812, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity,@sh flows for each of the three years in theggeended Decemb@d, 2013 of WisdomTre
Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries and our regagdiMarch 3, 2014 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
New York, NY
March 3, 2014
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WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

December 31

2013 2012
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $104,31¢ $ 41,24¢
Accounts receivabl 18,10( 9,34¢
Other current asse 1,32( 1,27:
Total current asse 123,73t 51,86°
Fixed assets, ni 6,252 48C
Investments 11,74¢ 11,03¢
Other noncurrent asse 55 42
Total asset $141,79: $ 63,42t
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Fund management and administration pay $ 10,39¢ $ 6,92/
Compensation and benefits paya 14,27¢ 2,15¢
Accounts payable and other liabiliti 4,38¢ 3,27:
Total current liabilities 29,05¢ 12,35:
Other noncurrent liabilitie 3,70¢ 13
Total liabilities 32,76: 12,36¢
Stockholders equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.01; 2,000 share&néd: — —
Common stock, par value $0.01; 250,000 shares apghlp issued: 132,247 and 126,554; outstanding:

130,350 and 125,27 1,322 1,26¢
Additional paic-in capital 184,20: 177,82t
Accumulated defici (76,499 (128,03)

Total stockholder equity 109,02 51,06(
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $141,79: $ 63,42¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofét@msolidated financial statements
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WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Revenues:
ETF advisory fee $148,59: $ 84,02« $ 64,36¢
Other income 874 774 794
Total revenue 149,46¢ 84,79¢ 65,16(
Expenses:
Compensation and benef 36,21( 23,23 19,63
Fund management and administral 35,07¢ 23,02( 19,88:
Marketing and advertisin 8,30¢ 5,36: 4,47¢
Sales and business developrr 6,47¢ 3,58¢ 3,60z
Professional and consulting fe 2,74¢ 4,60z 4,307
Occupancy, communications, and equipn 2,78¢ 1,41¢ 1,125
Depreciation and amortizatic 43¢ 307 267
Third party sharing arrangemel 1,36¢ 5,46¢ 5,651
Other 4,52: 2,97¢ 2,24:
ETF shareholders pro — 3,26¢ —
Litigation, net — 17¢€ 15C
Exchange listing and offerir — 353 72¢
Total expense 97,93: 73,76¢ 62,06¢
Income before provision for income tay 51,53: 11,03( 3,092
Provision for income taxe — — —
Net income $51537 $ 11,03 $ 3,09:
Net income per she—basic $ 041 $ 0.0 $ 0.0¢
Net income per she—diluted $ 037 $ 0.0 $ 0.0z
Weighte-average common sha—basic 126,65: 122,13t 114,13.
Weightec-average common sha—diluted 139,79° 137,96¢ 135,53¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofétmmsolidated financial statements
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WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In Thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Accumulated
Shares Par Paid-In
Issued Value Capital Deficit Total
Balance—January 1, 2011 115,29: $1,152 $158,23t $ (142,15) $ 17,23:
Restricted stock issued, r 53t 5 (5) — —
Shares repurchas (38€) 3 (2,150 — (2,157%)
Exercise of stock options, n 1,24: 13 52t — 53¢
Stock issued for servict 20 — 127 — 127
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 7,01« — 7,01«
Net income — — — 3,097 3,097
Balanc—December 31, 201 116,70: 1,167 163,74 (139,06 25,85!
Net proceeds from sale of common st 1,00(¢ 10 4,31¢ — 4,32¢
Restricted stock issued, r 1,17¢ 12 (12 — —
Shares repurchas: (357) 4 (2,257%) — (2,26))
Exercise of stock options, n 8,01¢ 80 4,59; — 4,67
Stock issued for servict 10 — 28 — 28
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 7,40¢ — 7,40¢
Net income — — — 11,03( 11,03(
Balanc—December 31, 201 126,55¢ 1,26t 177,82t (128,03) $ 51,06(
Restricted stock issued, r 974 10 (10 — —
Shares repurchas (137) (D) (1,612 — (1,619
Exercise of stock options, n 4,85¢ 48 1,53¢ — 1,58¢
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 6,45¢ — 6,45¢
Net income — — — 51,537 51,531
Balanc—December 31, 201 132,24 $1,32: $184,20. $ (76,499 $109,02

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofétmmnsolidated financial statements
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WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $51,537 $11,03C $ 3,09:
Non-cash items included in net incon
Depreciation and amortization and ot 43¢ 307 267
Stocl-based compensatic 6,45¢ 7,431 7,141
Deferred ren 70€ (140 (159
Accretion to interest income and ott 11€ 194 13t
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (5,529 (3,729 (800
Other asset (70 337 (950
Fund management and administration pay 3,47( (3,117 4,321
Compensation and benefits paya 12,12 (2,019 53C
Accounts payable and other liabiliti 874 91t 11C
Net cash provided by operating activit 70,124 11,23 13,69:
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of fixed asse (6,217 (190 (109%)
Purchase of investmer (3,597) (10,00¢) (8,119
Proceeds from the redemption of investm 2,781 7,83¢ 7,54:
Net cash used in investing activiti (7,027) (2,35¢) (680
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from sale of common st — 4,32¢ —
Shares repurchas: (1,619 (2,267 (2,159
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and was 1,58¢ 4,672 53¢
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activi (27) 6,74( (1,615
Net increase in cash and cash equival 63,07( 15,61¢ 11,397
Cash and cash equivale—beginning of yea 41,24¢ 25,63( 14,23
Cash and cash equivale—end of yea $104,31¢  $41,24¢  $25,63(
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for taxe $ 38 $ 33 $ 13
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Cashless exercise of stock options and wari $ 267 & — $ 391

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofétmmnsolidated financial statements
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WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

1. Organization and Description of Business

WisdomTree Investments, Inc. (“WisdomTree” or ti@oinpany”) is a New York-based exchangeded fund sponsor and asset man:
Through its operating subsidiary, the Company mtesiinvestment advisory and other management ssrtacthe WisdomTree Trust (“WT)”
and WisdomTree ETFs. During 2013, the Company haddllowing subsidiaries:

e WisdomTree Asset Management, Inc. (“"WTAM")—aallls owned subsidiary formed in February 2005 israrestment adviser
registered with the Securities and Exchange ComomgsSEC”). WTAM provides investment advisory aather management
services to WTT and the WisdomTree ETFs. In excadagproviding these services, the Company receidvisory fee revenues
based on a percentage of the ETFs average daissets under manageme‘AUM”).

» WisdomTree Retirement Services, Inc. (“WTRS§-wholly owned subsidiary formed in August 2007 rketed with selected thil
parties the use of WisdomTree ETFs in 401(k) pl8ERS was dissolved on September 27, 2!

The WisdomTree ETFs are issued by WTT. WTT, a nmmsolidated third party, is a Delaware statutongtregistered with the SEC as
an open-end management investment company. WTTsdiEFs across international and domestic equfiiesd income, currency, and
alternatives asset classes. The Company has lité¢inseise of its own fundamentally-weighted indexesin exclusive basis to WTT for the
WisdomTree ETFs. The Board of WTT, or the Trustéeseparate from the Board of the Company. Thetéas are primarily responsible for
overseeing the management and affairs of the WisdeenETFs and the Trust for the benefit of the Wisdiree ETF shareholders and has
contracted with the Company to provide for generahagement and administration services of WTT hadXisdomTree ETFs. The
Company, in turn, has contracted with third parteeprovide the majority of these administrationvgees. In addition, certain officers of the
Company provide general management services for WTT

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatiol

These consolidated financial statements have begraped in conformity with U.S. generally accepgedounting principles (“GAAP”)
and in the opinion of management reflect all adjesits, consisting of only normal recurring adjusitegnecessary for a fair statement of
financial condition, results of operations, andhctisws for the periods presented. The consolidéitexhcial statements include the accounts o
the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries WTAM and RE. WTRS was dissolved on September 27, 2013.

All intercompany accounts and transactions have leiminated in consolidation. Certain accountthim prior years’ consolidated
financial statements have been reclassified toaramfo the current year's consolidated financiatenents presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on the previousjyorted operating results.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated firerstatements in conformity with GAAP requiresmagement to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdss#ts and liabilities as of the balance sheetsdatd the reported amounts of revenues an
expenses for the periods presented. Actual resoltkl differ materially from those estimates.

Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company earns investment advisory fees for Elisseparately managed accounts as well as Ingpfests from third parties. ETF
advisory fees are based on a percentage of the &7fage daily net assets and recognized overettiedaothe related service is provided. Fees
for separately managed accounts and licensingasedoon a percentage of the average monthly retseessd recognized over the period the
related service is provided.
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Depreciation and Amortizatiot
Depreciation is provided for using the straighelimethod over the estimated useful lives of thateel assets as follows:

Equipment 3 year:
Furniture and fixture 7 year:

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the térimeir respective leases or service lives ofitmgrovements, whichever is shorter.
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulapeelcigion and amortization.

Marketing and Advertising

Advertising costs, including media advertising @ndduction costs are expensed when incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith an original maturity of 90 days or less a thme of purchase to be classified as
cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents atewitbl one large financial institution. At Decemlsdr, 2013, the Company holds in its cash
balance British pounds equivalent to $8,057 USDchlis subject to changes in the exchange rate.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acotus

Accounts receivable are customer and other obtigatdue under normal trade terms. An allowancedobtful accounts is not provided
since, in the opinion of management, all accourtgivable recorded are deemed collectible.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

On a periodic basis, the Company performs a refggwhe impairment of long-lived assets when eventshanges in circumstances
indicate that the estimated undiscounted futurb f8asvs expected to be generated by the assetesw¢han their carrying amounts or when
other events occur which may indicate that they@agramount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividirignm®me available to common stockholders by thigghted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Dilutadiegs per share reflects the potential redudtiararnings per share that could occur if
options or other contracts to issue common stoale wrercised or converted into common stock. Optanmd restricted shares to purchase
shares of common stock were included in the cdiculaf diluted earnings per share in the yearedridecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Investments

The Company accounts for all of its investmentbeld-to-maturity, which are recorded at amortizedtcwhich approximates fair value.
For held-to-maturity investments, the Company hasiitent and ability to hold investments to mayuaind it is not more likely than not that
the Company will be required to sell the investradrgfore recovery of their amortized cost baseg;iwimay be maturity.

On a periodic basis, the Company reviews its plotfaf investments for impairment. If a declinefair value is deemed to be other-than-
temporary, the security is written down to its featue through earnings.
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Subsequent Event

The Company has evaluated subsequent eventsladtdate of the consolidated financial statement®tsider whether or not the impact
of such events needed to be reflected or disclimstte consolidated financial statements. Suchuatain was performed through the issuance
date of the consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Awards

Accounting for stock-based compensation requiresiteasurement and recognition of compensation ergden all equity awards based
on estimated fair values. The Company accountstémk-based compensation for its employees baséiteorost of employee services
received in exchange for a stock-based award. Siaskd compensation is measured based on thedgentair value of the award and are
amortized over the relevant service period.

Stock-based awards granted to non-employees fatggooservices are valued at the fair value oetipgty instruments issued or the fair
value of consideration received, whichever is aenetiable measure of the fair value of the tratisacand recognized when performance
obligations are complete.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thditiamethod, which requires the determinatiordeferred tax assets and liabilities
based on the differences between the financiatanbtasis of assets and liabilities using the ethtax rates in effect for the year in which
differences are expected to reverse. Deferreddsata are adjusted by a valuation allowance iedas the weight of available evidence, it is
more-likely-than-not that some portion or all oéttieferred tax assets will not be realized.

In order to recognize and measure any unrecognéeldenefits, management evaluates and determinether any of its tax positions
are more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon eration, including resolution of any related appealfitigation processes, based on the
technical merits of the position. Once it is detigigd that a position meets this recognition thréshbe position is measured to determine the
amount of benefit to be recognized in the constdiddinancial statements. The Company has eleoteecbrd interest expense and penalties
related to tax expenses as income tax expense.

Related Party Transaction

The Company’s revenues are derived primarily framestment advisory agreements with WTT and Wisda@a BTFs. Under these
agreements, the Company has granted WTT an exellisense to its own indexes for operation of thed@mTree ETFs. The Trustees are
primarily responsible for overseeing the managemadtaffairs of the WisdomTree ETFs and the Troisttie benefit of the WisdomTree ETF
shareholders and WTT has contracted with the Cognfmaprovide for general management and adminietraif WTT and the WisdomTree
ETFs. The Company is also responsible for certaeieses of WTT, including the cost of transfer agegustody, fund administration and
accounting, legal, audit, and other ndistribution services, excluding extraordinary exges, taxes and certain other expenses. In exchitua
Company receives fees based on a percentage Bffth@average daily net assets. The advisory agresmeay be terminated by WTT upon
notice. Certain officers of the Company also previgtneral management oversight of WTT; howevesgtludficers have no material decision
making responsibilities and primarily implement thexisions of the Trustees. At December 31, 2008,2812, the balance of accounts
receivable from WTT was approximately $14,791 a8d 80, respectively which is included as a compbnéaccounts receivable in the
consolidated balance sheet. Revenue from advigowces provided to WTT for the years ended DecerBhe2013, 2012 and 2011 was
approximately $148,594, $84,024 and $64,366, resphe

Third Party Sharing Arrangements

Included in third party sharing arrangements expee payments (reimbursements) from/(to) the Compath respect to (i) a
collaborative arrangement and (ii) marketing agres with third parties:

Collaborative Arrangement—In 2008, the Company rexaténto a mutual participation agreement with MelCapital Management
Corporation (“Mellon Capital”) and The Dreyfus Corption (“Dreyfus”) in which the parties agreedctlaborate in developing currency and
fixed income ETFs under WTT. Under the agreeméietQompany was responsible for operating the EfBgeoviding sales, marketing and
research support at its own cost. Mellon Capitdl Breyfus were responsible for providing sub-adwisfund administration and accounting
services for these collaborative ETFs at their oast. Any revenues less third party costs, suchageting, legal, accounting or fund
management, related to these collaborative produets shared equally, including any losses (“nefififioss)”). The Company was
responsible for arranging any third party costatesl to this collaborative arrangement.
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In October 2012, the parties agreed to end thig ja@nture as of December 31, 2012 and enterediingw fee arrangement effective
January 1, 2013.

The Company had determined it was the principaigpant for transactions under this collaboratweangement and as such, recorded
these transactions on a gross basis reflectiraf #lle revenues and third party expenses on itsalmated financial statements in accordance
with the nature of the revenue or expense. Anyrafit/(loss) payments were reflected in Third P&8haring Arrangements expense on the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenues and expenses under this collaborativegamaent included in the Compasyonsolidated financial statements were as foll

2012 2011

ETF advisory fee revenue $10,96¢ $12,59¢
Expenses

Fund management and administrai 1,341 1,71z

Marketing and advertisin 39 40¢

Sales and business developnr 24 15¢

Other — 1

Third party expense 1,40¢ 2,27¢

Net profit 9,56¢ 10,31¢

Sharing $ 4,66 $ 5,11«

Marketing agreements. In 2010, the Company enietecagreements with certain firms to serve asettiernal marketing agents for the
WisdomTree ETFs. Under these agreements, the Complirpay a percentage of their advisory fee rax@rsubject to caps, to the marketing
agents based on incremental growth in AUM. The Camgpncurred marketing fees of $1,368, $806 and/$68the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 respectively.

Segment, Geographic and Customer Informati

The Company operates as one business segmentEd$-aponsor and asset manager providing investatigory services. Revenues
are derived in the U.S. and all of the Company&etsare located in the U.S.

3. Investments and Fair Value Measurements

The following table is a summary of the Company\gaistments:

2013 2012
Held-to- Held-to-
Maturity Maturity
Federal agency debt instruments $11,74¢ $11,03¢
The following table summarizes unrealized gainssés, and fair value of investments:
2013 2012
Held-to- Held-to-
Maturity Maturity
Cost/amortized cost $11,74¢ $11,03¢
Gross unrealized gait 20 61
Gross unrealized loss (1,459 (157)
Fair value $10,30¢ $10,94(
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The following table sets forth the maturity profdéinvestments; however these investments mayabedcprior to maturity date:

Due within one year

Due one year through five yee
Due five years through ten ye
Due over ten yeal

Total

Fair Value Measurement

2013

2012

Held-to-
Maturity

Held-to-
Maturity

$ —

68€
11,06:

$ —
727
10,30¢

$11,74¢

$11,03¢

Under the accounting for fair value measurementisdisclosures, fair value is defined as the piieg tvould be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability, or the exit pride,an orderly transaction between market partitipat the measurement date. The accounting
guidance establishes a hierarchy of valuation tiegct®s based on whether the inputs to those vatuddichniques are observable or
unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market dlatained from independent sources, while unobséiaputs reflect the Company’s

market assumptions.

These three types of inputs create the followingvialue hierarchy:

Level 1—Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets.

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in activerkeds; quoted prices for identical or similar instrents in markets that
are not active; and model-derived valuations whiopgets are observable or whose significant valixeds are observable.

Level 3—Instruments whose significant value drivers arebservable.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable matd& when available. The Company’s held-to-mbtwecurities are categorized as Level 1
The Company does not intend to sell its investmkald-tomaturity before the recovery of their amortizedtdmsses which may be at matu
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Some of our financial instruments are not measatédir value on a recurring basis but are recoateaimounts that approximate fair
value due to their liquid or short-term nature. Istinancial assets and financial liabilities aréegarized as Level 3.

4. Fixed Assets

In December 2013, the Company fully depreciated@pmately $101 and retired approximately $2,000ullfy depreciated fixed assets
related to its old office space. In 2013, the Conypaurchased approximately $6,000 of fixed assatgs new office space and will start to
depreciate these assets in January of 2014 whepleted and available for use.

The following table summarizes fixed assets:

December 31

2013 2012
Equipment $ 51€ $ 78¢
Furniture and fixture 1,00¢ 30¢
Leasehold improvemen 4,88( 1,062
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (157) 1,67¢6)
Total $6,252 $ 48C

5. Commitments and Contingencies
Contractual Obligations

The Company has entered into obligations underatiogrleases with initial non-cancelable termsxoess of one year for office space,
telephone, and data services. Expenses recorded tiede agreements for the years ended Decemp2033, 2012, and 2011 were
approximately $2,323, $1,338 and $1,046, respdgtive

Future minimum lease payments with respect to reoteelable operating leases at December 31, 201&pareximately as follows:

2014 $ 3,121
2015 2,90¢
2016 2,77¢
2017 and thereaftt 35,12¢
Total $43,92¢

The Company’s office lease expires in January 2iidithe Company entered into a new 16 year leasemgnt in August 2013.
Pursuant to the new lease agreement, the Compeeiyed lease incentives which include a deferratiperiod and a leasehold improvement
allowance equal to $3,223. The Company recordedeivable of $3,223 due from the lessor of its nffice space related to its leasehold
improvement allowance, which is included in accsueteivable on the consolidated balance sheetedrbber 31, 2013.

Letter of Credit

The Company collateralized its office lease at BB@lison Avenue, New York, NY through a standbydetf credit of $419 as of
December 31, 2013. This lease will terminate iruday 2014 and this letter of credit will expiretatmination. In August 2013, the Company
collateralized its office lease for new space & Park Avenue, New York, NY through an additiortahslby letter of credit of $1,384 held as
an investment in debt securities, which is inclughethvestments on the consolidated balance sta¢&scember 31, 2013.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to various routine regujeteviews and inspections by the SEC as well aal legpceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business. The Company is notatly party to any litigation or other legal preckngs that are expected to have a materia
impact on our business, financial position or ressaf operations.
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In December 2011, Research Affiliates LLC filededgnt infringement lawsuit against the CompanyNavember 2012, Research
Affiliates withdrew its lawsuit and entered intsettlement agreement with the Company. The Compangurance carrier funded a signific
majority of the cost of defending this patent infflement lawsuit. In 2012, the Company incurred $3lHon of legal defense and other
associated costs and its insurance carrier agoessimburse $2.5 million. In addition the Compaageived $0.7 million settlement payment
from Research Affiliates leading to an amount oR&@illion in net costs the Company incurred fa tkear ended December 31, 2012. In 201
the Company incurred $0.2 million in litigation expses.

6. Stock-Based Awards
Stock Options

The Company grants stock options to employeesaicedirectors and non-employee consultants andalatvisers for services. The
Company has six stock option plans, which are siniil nature (collectively, referred to as the #§. Under the Plans, the Company can
issue a maximum of 25,000,000 shares of commotk giasuant to stock options and other stock-basedds and also has issued from time
to time stock-based awards outside the Plans.

Options are issued generally for terms of ten yaatsvest between two to four years. Options atgeid with an exercise price equal to
the fair value of the Company on the date of gr@ptiions outstanding at December 31, 2013 expirdates ranging from March 16, 2014, to
November 15, 202:

In January 2009, the Company’s Compensation Comenéhd Board of the Directors approved a proposaildvide eligible employees
an opportunity to exercise their underwater stqukoms in the future at an alternative lower styikize. To obtain the full benefit of the
alternative strike price, employees were requicectmain with the Company for an additional 4 yelrsder the program, eligible employees
could exercise one quarter of their stock optiacheyear at an alternative strike price of $1.0% @lternative strike price represented a 50%
premium to the Company'’s thirty day volume weightegrage price on the day the program was appr@etions prices on the programs
approval date ranged from $1.75 to $9.45 with ayhteid-average exercise price of $4.34. The Compasyecorded a charge of $589 over
four years which represents the excess of thevédire of eligible options using the alternativekstprice over the existing strike price, this
charge was fully recognized by December 31, 20@2the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201 Cahmpany recorded $118 and $138,
respectively, for this program.

A summary of option activity is as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Exercise

Options Price

Outstanding January 1, 2011 21,443,61 $ 0.6C
Grantec 825,00( 5.8C
Forfeitures or expiration (135,316 2.04
Exercisec (1,280,68) 0.64
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 20,852,61 $ 0.7¢
Grantec — 0.0C
Forfeitures or expiration (73,9079 1.7t
Exercisec (8,018,51) 0.5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 12,760,19 $ 0.9t
Grantec — 0.0C
Forfeitures or expiration (40,000 411
Exercisec (4,875,501 0.3¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 7,844,69. $ 1.2¢

In 2012, all of the 1,320,833 outstanding optiowsaias granted to nonemployee consultants and d@ebisers were exercised
with a weighted average exercise price of $1.34erMDecember 31, 2012 there were no remaining o@veards outstanding to non-
employees. In 2011, 77,500 options were exercisddaweighted average exercise price of $2.38. ;880,833 option awards granted
to nonemployee consultants and special advisessighrDecember 31, 2011 are included in the tabtgptidn activity. These options h
a weighted exercise price of $1.34.

F-14



Table of Contents

The following table summarizes information on stogkions outstanding at December 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Number Aggregate
Number Weighted- Weighted- Exercisable a Weighted- Intrinsic
Outstanding at Average Value at
Remaining Average December 31 Average December 31
December 31, Contractual Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Price 2013 Life in Years Price 2013 Price 2013
$0.03 — $0.16 1,701,95: 0 $ 0.1 1,701,95. $ 0.1C $ 29,96:
$0.70- $0.70 2,525,00! 51 0.7 2,375,001 0.7¢C 40,39¢
$1.07- $1.28 1,935,68! 2.9 1.07 1,935,68! 1.07 32,20¢
$2.03- $4.03 1,017,04! 4.5 2.22 978,29¢ 2.2C 15,17¢
$5.05- $5.05 400,00( 7.1 5.0t 250,00( 5.0t 3,165
$6.36- $6.82 170,00( 7.4 6.52 70,00( 6.52 783
$7.01- $8.51 95,00( 7.7 7.5C 35,00( 7.54 35€
7,844,69. 37 $ 1.2¢ 7,34594. $ 1.0 $ 122,05t

The Company estimated the fair value for optiorisgithe Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The @amy did not grant options in
2013 and 2012. The following assumptions were usélde option pricing model for 2011:

The estimated weighted-average fair value for otigranted in 2011 was $3.31.

2011
Expected life (years) 5.0

Risk free interest rai 0.84% to 2.32%
Dividends —
Volatility 67.00% to 70.62¢

From time-to-time, the Company also grants regtd@nd common stock to nonemployee consultantspeial advisers for services. In
general, these awards vest over the contractumdef the consulting arrangement. The fair valtithese awards is measured at the grant

dated fair value and re-measured at each repgrtinigd. Fair value is determined as the closingegpof the Company’s common stock on the
date of grant.

The Company grants restricted stock to employedglarctors. All restricted stock awards requirkifa service as a condition of

delivery of the underlying shares of common stdoki@ with certain other requirements outlined ia #tward agreements. Restricted stock
awards generally vest over one to four years.

The following table summarizes information aboutrieted shares outstanding for the years endeérleer 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Restricted

Stock Awards
Unvested balance at January 1, 2011 2,158,50!
Grantec 561,52¢
Vested (1,382,37))
Forfeited (26,289
Unvested balance at December 31, 2 1,311,37:
Grantec 1,209,11.
Vested (1,209,12)
Forfeited (30,22()
Unvested balance at December 31, 2 1,281,14.
Grantec 981,81!(
Vested (358,339
Forfeited (7,749
Unvested balance at December 31, 2 1,896,87
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As of December 31, 2012 all awards of restrictedlshave vested for nonemployee consultants arda@elvisers. There are no
remaining unvested restricted shares to non-empoge special advisers at December 31, 2013. Aeoémber 31, 2011, 312,500 shares of
unvested restricted stock for awards granted temmhoyee consultants and special advisers aredadlin the above.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stbaked compensation expense:

For the Year Ended
December 31

2013 2012 2011
Employees and directors option awards $ 381 $1,43¢ $2,40:
Employees and directors restricted stock aw 6,07¢ 3,81« 2,041
Nonemployee consultants and special advisers cestrstock award — 2,18 2,69¢
Total $6,45¢ $7,43i $7,14]

Stock-based compensation expense related to noogegptonsultants and special advisers was inclidebfessional and consulting
fees and stock-based compensation expense retetir@ ttors is included in other expenses on tmsaclidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes the Company’s ungaixed stock-based compensation expense and remaiesting period as of
December 31, 2013:

Unrecognized Stoc-Basec Average

Remaining
Compensation Vesting Perioc
Employees and directors option awards $ 902 1.9¢
Employees and directors restricted stock awn $ 8,30¢ 1.7¢

7. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan coveringligible employees in which the Company can makerdtionary contributions from
its profits. In 2013 the Company made discretior@mytributions in the amount of $491. The Compaidyndt make any discretionary
contributions for the years ended December 31, 20t22011.

8. Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the basic atlitited earnings per share computation:

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
(shares in thousands

Net income $ 51,53 $ 11,03( $ 3,092
Shares of common stock and common stock equival

Weighted averages shares used in basic compu 126,65: 122,13t 114,13.
Dilutive effect of stock options and unvested rietd stock 13,14¢ 15,83( 21,407
Weighted averages shares used in dilutive comput 139,79 137,96¢ 135,53
Basic earnings per she $ 041 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Dilutive earnings per sha $ 0.37 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0z
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Diluted earnings per share reflects the potengidliction in earnings per share that could occopfions or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into comstack under the treasury stock method. The déugifect of options and restricted
shares to purchase shares of common stock weredggatin the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012Gk1 respectively.

9. Income Taxes

The components of current and deferred incomexperese included in the Consolidated Statement ef&@jons for years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 as determinettordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740r¢, as follows:

Year ended December 31
2013 2012 2011

Current:
Federa $— $— $—
State and loce — — —

Deferred:
Federa — _ _
State and loce — — —

Income tax expense from operatic $— $— $—
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The Company has recorded its hon-income based #sxpart of other liabilities and other expenses.

Net operating losse

The Company has generated net operating losséafpurposes (“NOL”) during the years ended Decearie 2013, 2012, 2011 and
prior periods which may be used to minimize incdmes paid. The following table provides a sumnudrhe NOL activity for the years
indicated:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Beginning NOL $(136,51%) $(106,939) $(101,85¢)
U.S. GAAP income 51,53} 11,03( 3,092
Tax differences

Temporary 5,58( (5,639 20¢

Permanen (61,567 (37,619 (9,339
Net operating losses expir — 2,64t 95C
Ending NOL $(140,959) $(136,51) $(106,939)

Temporary differences are primarily comprised & difference between recognizing expenses for tagqses and U.S. GAAP purposes
associated with rent, stock-based compensatiom@pikciation of fixed assets.

Permanent differences are primarily comprised efdifference between stock-based compensation asoecognized for tax purposes
and U.S. GAAP purposes at the time options arecésaat (at the intrinsic value) or restricted staclkested (at fair value of the share price).
The Company may record additional NOLs from stoakdnl compensation awards which have been grantsdpimyees and remain
unexercised or unvested as of December 31, 20E3NSe 6 for additional details related to outstagdtock compensation awards.

The Company’s net operating losses generally exfirgears from the time they are generated. Intiathgidue to the Company incurring
a series of changes in ownership as defined byd®e882 under the Internal Revenue Code, the Cognjzdimited as to the amount of NOL it
may use in a given year. Prior to the consideratfcemy limitations imposed due to ownership changige Company’s available NOLs will
expire as follows:

Year Ending December 3

2018 $ 5,81¢
2019 5,101
2021 57¢
2023 60€
2024 2,33(
2025 3,23¢
2026 15,56
2027 24,65¢
2028 19,75
2029 14,21¢
2030 6,38t
2031 6,05-
2032 32,21¢
2033 4,44

$140,95¢
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The amounts summarized above are subject to tlenvio annual limitations as indicated by the yesush NOLs were incurred:

Annual
Prospective Amount
Deemed
NOLs generated betwee Total Limitation Worthless
1998 — 2004 $ 14,04¢ $ 524 $ 3,48
2005— 2012 118,16¢ 68,16« —
2012— 2013 8,744 — —
Net operating losse $ 140,95 $ 68,68! $ 3,48i

Any NOL amounts not used because of the annuadtion can be used in future periods until expanati

Deferred tax asse

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, $111,635 an®$8%f the NOLs has been generated from stock-basagensation amounts
recognized for tax purposes at the time optioneaegcised (at the intrinsic value) or restrictamtk is vested (at fair value of the share price)
and previously expensed at the date of grant f8 GAAP purposes. Since these amounts cannot bgnmized as a deferred tax asset under
U.S. GAAP, accordingly, a deferred tax asset rdlatethis amount is not recorded.

A reconciliation of the NOL amount presented abamd the amount utilized in calculating the defemsedasset at December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively, is as follows:

December 31

2013 2012
Net operating losse $ 140,95¢ $136,51!
Net operating losses deemed worth (3,487 (3,487
Unrecognized sto-based compensatic (111,63 (49,949
Gross net operating losses available for defeae@dsse 25,83" 83,08:
Tax rate 45.4% 45.22%
Tax affectec $ 11,73¢ $ 37,57

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the compositiomefdeferred tax asset is summarized as followgplyag a 45.43% and 45.22% t
rate to the deferred tax items:

December 31

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Net operating losse $11,73¢ $ 37,571
Stocl-based compensatic 7,57¢ 6,471
Fixed asset — 28¢€
Deferred rent liability 1,85t 68
Other 82 82
Deferred tax asse 21,25¢ 44,47¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed asset 7 —
Unrealized gain 26 —
Deferred tax liabilities 33 —
Total deferred tax assets less deferred tax lisds 21,22 44,47¢
Less: valuation allowanc (21,22) (44,479
Net deferred tax assets and liabilit $ — $ —
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At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the deferred teet &iss been offset by a valuation allowance of #2lland $44,478 respectively. The
Company believes it is more likely than not tha tleferred tax asset will not be realized.

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tate of 35% and the Company’s effective ratesiotlows:

December 31

2013 2012 2011
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Permanent difference 0.0¢% 0.3 32.5%
State income tax rate, net of federal ber 10.0€% 9.44% 21.2¢%
(Decrease) in valuation allowan (45.19%) (44.82%) (89.2%%)
Other differences, ni (0.02%) 0.01% 0.4(%
Effective rate 0.0(% 0.0(% 0.0(%

Uncertain tax positions

As of December 31, 2013, the Company determinedtthas no uncertain tax positions, interest arghiges as defined within ASC 740-
10. The Company does not have unrecognized taXiteriehe Company does not believe that it is reabty possible that the total
unrecognized benefits will significantly increasghin the next 12 months. The Company is not cutyamder audit by any taxing authority.
Tax returns filed with each jurisdiction remain age examination under the normal three-year staifitimitations.

10. Shares Repurchased

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 208 Zompany repurchased 136,641and 357,123 shatesCompany stock for an
aggregate cost of $1,613 and $2,261, respectiVlly.shares repurchased related to the vestingfated common stock granted to
employees.

11. Public Offerings

In February 2012, the Company completed a pubfirioiy of its common stock at $5.61 per share. Chepany sold 1,000,000 shares
and certain of our stockholders sold 15,516,587eshdroceeds to the Company, less commissionsthaddirect selling expenses were
approximately $4,329 and were used for working tedygind other general corporate purposes. In Noeemb

F-20



Table of Contents

2012, the Company completed a second public offerfrits common stock where certain of our exisstarkholders sold 27,795,630 share
$6.10 per share. The Company did not sell any stotthe second offering and did not receive anyeeals from the sale of shares of its
common stock by the selling stockholders. The Compacurred $353 in expenses in 2012 related ts#vend offering.

12. ETF Shareholder Proxy Solicitation

In 2012, the Company completed its solicitatiomfrthe WisdomTree ETF shareholders to obtain appfovéhe Company to continue
as investment adviser for the WisdomTree ETFsaf@ompany’s largest stockholder, Michael Steinhavtib then beneficially owned 25.5%
of the Company’s common stock prior to the secaudlip offering discussed above in Note 11, wersstbor otherwise transfer shares of the
Company’s common stock resulting in his benefioighership falling below 25%. The Investment CompAcy presumes a change in control
of the Company if Mr. Steinhardt’s ownership fedlidw the 25% threshold, which would trigger an autic termination of the Company’s
investment advisory agreements with the WisdomTirest and require approval of the WisdomTree ETé&reholders to continue the
agreements. No further shareholder approval wasresjwhen Mr. Steinhardt's ownership fell below?28n addition, the Company received
approval from the WisdomTree ETF shareholdersltmathe Company to change sub-advisers in the éuttior the year ended December 31,
2012, the Company incurred proxy related expen$s#64.

13. Subsequent Events

In September 2013, the Company entered into areagget with State Street Bank and Trust Compansattsfer fund administration al
custody services from Bank of New York Mellon, etige April 1, 2014.

In January 2014, the Company announced its plaeggand into Europe through a majority investmantliK.-based exchange traded
product (“ETP”) provider Boost ETP LLP (“Boost”)h& Company expects to invest $20 million in workaagital to fund the build-out of a
local European fund platform and operations todoetly Boost's management team. Through this platthie Company intends to launch a
select range of Undertakings for Collective Invesstitis in Transferable Securities ETFs under the Wisidtee brand and continue to manage
and grow the Boost portfolio of short and leverafigly collateralized ETPs under the Boost brand.

Under the terms of the Company’s agreement withsBdbe Company will own 75% of the new WisdomTEegope entity and the
existing Boost shareholders will own 25%. The Comypaill acquire the remaining 25% ownership fronisting Boost shareholders at the
of four years. The payout formula will be basedsamopean AUM at the end of the four year period wildbe tied to WisdomTree’s
enterprise value over global AUM at the time of gaty and affected by profitability of the Europdarsiness. The payout will be in cash over
two years. Subject to regulatory approval and othistomary closing conditions, the transactiorxjgeeted to close in the first half of 2014.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora

3.2(1) Amended and Restated Byla

4.1(1) Specimen Common Stock Certifice

4.2(1) Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement ameggtRant and certain investors dated Decembe216

4.3(1) Securities Purchase Agreement among Registrantentain investors dated December 21, 2

4.4(1) Securities Purchase Agreement among Registrantentain investors dated October 15, 2

4.5(1) Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights égent dated October 15, 2C
10.1(2) Representative Form of Advisory Agreement betweesddmTree Asset Management, Inc. and WisdomTrest’
10.2(2) g\gleznded and Restated License Agreement betweeroW iBate Investments, Inc. and WisdomTree Trust distaath 1,
10.4(2) WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 1993 Stock Option |
10.5(2) WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 1996 Performance Edrlan
10.6(1) WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 1996 Management Incefan
10.7(2) WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2000 Performance Edrlan
10.8(1) WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2001 Performance Edrlan
10.9(2) WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2005 Performance Edrlan
10.10(1 Amendment to WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2005dPerdnce Equity Plan approved by stockholder on AtgQ, 2007
10.11(1 Amendment to WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2005dPerdnce Equity Plan approved by stockholder on Atga, 201(
10.12(1 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Multiple Yearsting) for Executive Officer
10.13(1 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Single Yeartveg3 for Executive Officer:
10.14(1 Form of Stock Option Agreement for Executive Offic
10.15(1 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Independrectors
10.16(1 Form of Stock Option Agreement for Independent Elves
10.17(1 Form of Amendment dated January 26, 2009 to Exjsfiption Agreements between Registrant and Empk
10.19(1 Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and Bangbteinberg dated March 17, 2(
10.20(1 Amendment dated November 10, 2004 to Stock Optigreéments between Registrant and Jonathan Steidatrd January

3, 2001, April 3, 2002 and March 17, 2C

10.21(1 Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and Banabteinberg dated November 10, 2
10.24(1 Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and InacBiracusano dated March 17, 2(

10.26(1 Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and Inac&iracusano dated November 10, 2
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Exhibit
Number

10.27(1)
10.28(1)

10.29(1)
10.30(1)
10.31.1(3)

10.32(1)
10.33(1)

10.34(1)
10.35(1)
10.36(4)
21.1(5)
23.1(5)
31.1(5)
31.2(5)
32.1(5)
101.INS(5)*
101.SCH(5)
101.CAL(5)*
101.DEF(5)*
101.LAB(5)*
101.PRE(5)’

Description
Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and lnacBiracusano dated January 26, 2

Amendment dated March 30, 2011 to Stock Option Agrents between Registrant and Luciano Siracusaed danuary
26, 200¢

Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and MicBgeinhardt dated November 10, 2(
Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and F&abérno dated July 22, 20

Further Amended and Restated Employment Agreenmantden WisdomTree Asset Management, Inc. and Bracime
dated as of April 24, 201

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement betwdedowiTree Asset Management, Inc. and Peter M. Ziedabed
as of May 24, 201

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement betwdedowiTree Asset Management, Inc. and Amit Muni diate of
May 24, 2011

Form of Proprietary Rights and Confidentiality Agneent

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers aDdectors

Employment Agreement between WisdomTree Asset Mamagt, Inc. and Gregory Barton dated as of Oct8p2012
Subsidiaries of WisdomTree Investments,

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registgreblic accounting firm

Rule 13-14(a) / 15~14(a) Certification:

Rule 13-14(a) / 15~14(a) Certification:

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z
XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Regis’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with@&C on March 31, 201

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Regis’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on May 14, 201

(3) Incorporated by reference from the Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on April 26, 201.

(4) Incorporated by reference from the Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on October 10, 20:

(5) Filed herewith

* Pursuant to Rule 406T, the interactive data fileExhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or @ pha registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Section 11 or 12 oBtheurities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemefilembfor purposes of Section 18 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendebgnerwise is not subject to liability under thesetions and shall not be

incorporated by reference into any registratiotesteent or other document filed under the Securfigtsof 1933, as amended, except as

expressly set forth by specific reference in stilingf
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Subsidiaries of the Registrant

1. WisdomTree Asset Management, Inc. (Delaware) 1004ted



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(a) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-17p@82taining to the:

1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
()
(6)

(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)

(14)
(15)
(16)
(b)

WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 1993 Stock Option F

WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 1996 Performance Edrlan,
WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2000 Performance Edrlan,
WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2001 Performance Edrlan,
WisdomTree Investments, Inc. 2005 Performance Edrlan,

Stock Option Agreements dated as of Januar2@8) and February 5, 2010 between the WisdomTreestments, Inc. and David
Abner,

Stock Option Agreement dated as of January 28, B@tbeen the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Bavéne,
Stock Option Agreement dated as of January 28, B@tbeen the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Richborris,
Stock Option Agreement dated as of July 30, 20@&den the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Draksidf¢

Stock Option Agreement dated as of January 28, Beteen the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Muiti,

Stock Option Agreement dated as of November 104 2@@ween the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. andnje&egel,
Stock Option Agreement dated as of March 17, 2@ éen the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Lucgiraxusanc

Stock Option Agreements dated as of April()2 (as amended on November 10, 2004), March 14 g8 amended on November 10,
2004), November 10, 2004 and January 26, 2009 leetthee WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Jonatheintiirg,

Stock Option Agreement dated as of March 17, 2@déen the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and JefRayye Steinber
Stock Option Agreement dated as of November 104 2@@ween the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and &dicBteinhardt, an
Stock Option Agreement dated as of January 28, Beéteen the WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Zétanba;
Registration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-184505) of WisdomTree Investments, |

of our reports dated March 3, 2014, with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of WisdoraTreestments, Inc. and Subsidiaries and
the effectiveness of internal control over finaho@porting of WisdomTree Investments, Inc. and Sdilaries included in this Annual Report
(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
March 3, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

Certification

I, Jonathan L. Steinberg, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of WisdomTree Investments, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal controls over financial report{ag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financiglating, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegjig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

By: /s/ Jonathan Steinberg
Jonathan Steinbe!
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 3, 2014



Exhibit 31.2

Certification

[, Amit Muni, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of WisdomTree Investments, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal controls over financial report{ag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financiglating, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegjig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

By: s/ Amit Muni
Amit Muni
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 3, 2014



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of WisdomThaeestments, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K flee period ended
December 31, 2013 as filed with the Securitiesxecthange Commission (the “SEC”) on the date heftbef“Report”), we, Jonathan L.
Steinberg, Chief Executive Officer of the Compaaryd Amit Muni, Chief Financial Officer of the Compga certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9€@&dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to our knowledigat;

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; a

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

This certification is being furnished and not fileshd shall not be incorporated into any documfamtany purpose, under the Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. A signed original of thigten statement require by Section 906 has beeviged to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the SE@ staff upon request.

By: /s/ Jonathan Steinberg
Jonathan Steinbe
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

By: /s/ Amit Muni
Amit Muni
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 3, 201+



